A Study on Fuzzy Riesz Spaces



By

Mobashir Iqbal

Supervised by

Dr. Zia Bashir

On Ordered Mordell Elliptic Curves and Their Applications in Cryptography



By

Ikram Ullah

On Ordered Mordell Elliptic Curves and Their Applications in Cryptography



By

Ikram Ullah

Supervised by

Dr. Umar Hayat

On Ordered Mordell Elliptic Curves and Their Applications in Cryptography



By

Ikram Ullah

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN THE PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENT FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

IN

MATHEMATICS

Supervised by Dr. Umar Hayat

Author's Declaration

I, <u>Mobashir Iqbal</u>, hereby state that my PhD thesis titled <u>A Study on Fuzzy Riesz</u> <u>Spaces</u> is my own work and has not been submitted previously by me for taking any degree from the Quaid-I-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan or anywhere else in the country/world.

At any time if my statement is found to be incorrect even after my graduate the university has the right to withdraw my PhD degree.

Name of Student: Mobashir Iqbal

Date: 22-Dec-2020

Plagiarism Undertaking

I solemnly declare that research work presented in the thesis titled "<u>A Study on</u> <u>Fuzzy Riesz Spaces</u>" is solely my research work with no significant contribution from any other person. Small contribution/help wherever taken has been duly acknowledged and that complete thesis has been written by me.

I understand the zero tolerance policy of the HEC and <u>Quaid-i-Azam University</u> towards plagiarism. Therefore, I as an Author of the above titled thesis declare that no portion of my thesis has been plagiarized and any material used as reference is properly referred/cited.

I undertake that if I am found guilty of any formal plagiarism in the above titled thesis even afterward of PhD degree, the University reserves the rights to withdraw/revoke my PhD degree and that HEC and the University has the right to publish my name on the HEC/University Website on which names of students are placed who submitted plagiarized thesis.

1

M ale

Student/Author Signature

Name: Mobashir Iqbal

Certificate of Approval

This is to certify that the research work presented in this thesis entitled A Study on Fuzzy Riesz Spaces was conducted by Mr. Mobashir Iqbal under the kind supervision of Dr. Zia Bashir. No part of this thesis has been submitted anywhere else for any other degree. This thesis is submitted to the Department of Mathematics, Quaid-i-Azam University, Islamabad in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the field of Mathematics from Department of Mathematics, Quaid-I-Azam University Islamabad, Pakistan.

Student Name: Mobashir Iqbal

External committee:

a) External Examiner 1:

Name: Dr. Asad Zaighum Designation: Associate Professor Office Address: Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Ripha Internationl University, Islamabad.

Signature: 20~

b) External Examiner 2:

Name: Dr. Muhammad Ishaq Designation: Associate Professor Office Address: School of Natural Sciences, National University of Science and Technology, H-12 Islamabad.

c) Internal Examiner

Signature:______Bms

Name: Dr. Zia Bashir Designation: Assistant Professor Office Address: Department of Mathematics, QAU Islamabad.

Supervisor Name: Dr. Zia Bashir

Signature:

Name of Dean/HOD

Prof. Dr. Sohail Nadeem

Signature: <u>Marken</u> Signature: <u>Zaijhaz</u>.

A Study on Fuzzy Riesz Spaces

By

Mobashir Iqbal

CERTIFICATE

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN THE PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF THE

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN MATHEMATICS

We accept this thesis as conforming to the required standard

ader 1.

Prof. Dr. Sohail Nadeem (Chairman)

3.

Dr. Asad Ziaghum (External Examiner)

Department of Mathematics and Statistics, Ripha Internationl University, Islamabad.

Dr. Zia Bashir 2.

(Supervisor)

Dr. Muhammad Ishaq (External Examiner)

School of Natural Sciences, National University of Science and Technology, H-12 Islamabad.

Acknowledgements

In the name of Allah, the Most Gracious and the Most Merciful. Alhamdolillah, all praises to Allah for the strengths and His blessing together with millions of Darood on Holy Prophet (PBUH) in completing this thesis.

I would love to express my deepest gratitude to my gem of a supervisor Dr.Zia Bashir, for giving me an excellent time to study fuzzy Riesz spaces together with never-ending support and guidance in the past three years. Without his necessary guidance, I would not come close to my greatest accomplishment.

How on earth I forget my parents, brothers, sister, and my better half for their prayers and boost at every moment of my study right from the word go? A special thanks to my teachers of the Department of Mathematics Quaid-i-Azam University Islamabad for teaching me for the better part of three years.

Old and new friends have been very encouraging and loving during my stay at Quaid-i-Azam University Islamabad. I would love to thank my lovely friends Ikram Ullah, Naqash Sarfraz Abbasi, Dr.Saqib, Jawad Sabir, Ch.Khalil, and many more. I feel the privilege to thank all my friends outside the institute, specially Dr.Rashid Mehmood, Nadeem Awan, Atif Asghar, Yasir Arif, and Dr.Sardar Bilal for their million-dollar encouragement, love, and prayers.

Abstract

Fuzzy Riesz Space is an attempt to study vector spaces with a fuzzy order for more complicated scenarios. In this dissertation, we study the fuzzy order convergence, fuzzy Riesz homomorphisms, and fuzzy order continuous positive operator, which help to prove the existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion of Archimedean fuzzy Riesz spaces. Theory of the fuzzy Riesz space of all fuzzy order bounded linear operators are investigated. We define and study unbounded fuzzy order convergence and some of its applications. Furthermore, study the fuzzy norms compatible with fuzzy ordering (fuzzy normed Riesz space) and discuss the relationship between the fuzzy order dual and topological dual of a locally convex solid fuzzy Riesz space. Besides, we throw light on the unbounded fuzzy norm convergence and its applications in fuzzy Banach lattice, which is topological.

Contents

1	Introduction					
2 Basics concepts						
	2.1	Fuzzy order set	6			
	2.2	Fuzzy order linear space	8			
	2.3	Fuzzy Riesz space	9			
		2.3.1 Fuzzy Riesz subspaces	12			
	2.4	Fuzzy normed spaces	13			
		2.4.1 Fuzzy topological spaces	14			
3	The existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion of Archimedean fuzzy Riesz					
	spac	ce	16			
	3.1	Fuzzy order convergence	16			
	3.2	Fuzzy positive linear operators	21			
	3.3	Fuzzy Riesz homomorphism	24			
	3.4	Fuzzy Dedekind completion	27			
4	Fuzzy order bounded linear operators in fuzzy Riesz spaces					
	4.1	Fuzzy order dual	41			
5	Unbounded fuzzy order convergence					

	5.1	Fuzzy	weak order unit \hdots	47		
		5.1.1	Fuzzy ideals and completeness with respect to ufo-convergence	50		
6	Fuzzy normed Riesz space					
		6.0.1	Fuzzy order continuous Banach lattice	55		
	6.1	Locall	y convex-solid fuzzy Riesz space	57		
	6.2	6.2 Unbounded fuzzy norm convergence				
		6.2.1	Disjoint Sequences	63		
		6.2.2	ufn-convergence is topological	66		
Bi	Bibliography					

Chapter 1

Introduction

One can marvel at the complexities of real-life that cannot be modeled with perfection. In an attempt to handle vague and imprecise scenarios, Zadeh gave the notion of fuzzy set [65]. Since then, the fuzzy set theory has been developed enormously and with many applications. Many classical structures like topological spaces, metric spaces, and norm spaces have been designed in the fuzzy framework. Chang and Michalek [16, 45] defined and characterized the basic theory of fuzzy topological spaces. Warren [58] formalized many concepts in fuzzy topological spaces like neighbourhood, continuity, and bases. Lawn [41, 42] defined and studied the fuzzy compactness and connectedness in fuzzy topological spaces. Seenivasan and Kamala [53] proposed and investigated the theory of fuzzy e-continuity and fuzzy e-open sets. Vadivela and Vijayalakshmib [55] studied and characterized the fuzzy \wedge_e sets and continuity in fuzzy topological spaces. Authors in [50] investigated the theory of a new pairwise fuzzy topology through a fuzzy ideal.

In a series of papers, Katsaras and Liu [36, 37, 38] defined fuzzy vector spaces, fuzzy topological vector spaces and proved many related results. Amudhambigaia and Madhuria [6] defined and studied fuzzy irresolute topological vector spaces. The notion of fuzzy metric space was first proposed in [40]. Then Gregori et al. [24, 25] studied the convergence criteria in fuzzy metric spaces. George and Veeramani [23] gave several theocratical concepts in

fuzzy metric spaces. Kaleva and Seikkala [34] investigated the fuzzy metric spaces in detail. Katsaras [38] defined a fuzzy norm in fuzzy vector spaces. After that, Felbin [21] further developed the structure of fuzzy normed space. Saadati and Vaezpour [54] investigated the theory of fuzzy Banach spaces. Cheng and Mordeson [17] developed the theory of a fuzzy linear operator. The completeness of the fuzzy norm space of linear operators is discussed by Xaio and Zhu [61]. Then, Bag and Samanta [7, 8] defined and studied the notion of a fuzzy bounded linear operator and observed a type of convergence of sequence in fuzzy normed linear spaces. Moradi [47] characterized the complete fuzzy normed spaces. Rano and Bag [51] redefined fuzzy normed linear space. Since then, many authors have done more work on these structures.

The ordering of objects is much more important in many problems, to handle the situations where it is not easy to determine the relative position of an object, fuzzy ordering, and fuzzy ordered sets are defined by Venugopalan [56] and Zadeh [64]. Chon [18] further developed the notions of fuzzy partial order relations and fuzzy lattices. Xie et al. [62] introduced the theory of the Dedekind–MacNeille completions for fuzzy posets. Yuan and Wu [60] proposed and studied the notion of fuzzy ideals and sublattices in fuzzy lattices. Ajmal and Thomas [2] explored fuzzy lattices with an algebraic point of view and gave a characterization of fuzzy sublattices. Bodenhofer [15] defined similarity-based fuzzy ordering and worked on its representation. Amroune et al. [5] investigated the notions of fuzzy t-filters, fuzzy prime t-filters, and defined fuzzy lattice isomorphism. Davyaz and Kazanci [19, 35] defined a new kind of fuzzy-sublattices (ideal, filter) and characterized lattices in many classes by using their properties. Kadji et al. [33] investigated the theory of L-fuzzy filter, L-fuzzy prime filter for giving residuated lattice M and lattice L. Konecny and Krupka [39] studied the complete fuzzy lattices, residuated lattice valued ordered sets and proved many essential results. Yang [59] discussed fuzzy weak regular, strong, and preassociative filters in residuated lattices. In [48] Panneerselvam and Jayadevi investigated the notion of anti monotonic P-fuzzy G-distributive lattices. Micić et al. [46] devised practical ways to compute the greatest right invariant fuzzy

quasi-order, greatest right, and left-invariant fuzzy equivalences for fuzzy automaton.

Beg and Islam [9] initiated to study vector spaces with fuzzy ordering and come up with the notion of fuzzy Riesz space [10, 11]. In continuation, Beg [12, 13, 14] defined and characterized the notion of the fuzzy positive operator and discussed the properties of fuzzy order relations. Hong [26] defined and studied fuzzy Riesz subspaces in detail. Park et al. [49] gave the concept of Riesz fuzzy normed spaces. Recently, Kadhim [32] discussed the concept of fuzzy statistical (O)-convergence in fuzzy Riesz space. The precise details of the fuzzy set theory and classical Riesz spaces can be found in [52, 66] and [1, 3, 4, 20, 22, 27, 44, 57], respectively.

In this dissertation, we study fuzzy Riesz space in many directions. We define several theoretical concepts and prove many essential results, thus significantly contributing to the existing theory of fuzzy Riesz space. The details of our findings are given below.

• In Chapter 3 we prove the existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion of an Archimedean fuzzy Riesz space. Consider (K, ϕ) is a fuzzy Riesz space with K a vector space and ϕ a fuzzy partial order on K. Our idea is to construct a vector space K^{δ} with fuzzy partial order ψ based on (K, ϕ) in a way that (K^{δ}, ψ) is fuzzy Dedekind complete. Then, a one to one positive linear map $P: K \to K^{\delta}$ is constructed, which preserves the lattice and algebraic structures of K that coincides with subspace lattice structure P(K) inherits from K^{δ} . Furthermore, P(K) is somehow dense in K^{δ} . However, the existing theory was not adequate to implement this plan, as its many parts do not make sense in the existing literature. Therefore, many new concepts are needed to be defined. For fuzzy Riesz subspace, the notions of fuzzy order dense, fuzzy majorizing, and fuzzy regularness are defined and studied in collaboration with fuzzy order convergence. The fuzzy order convergence of a net in a fuzzy Riesz space is another important concept closely related to fuzzy Dedekind completeness. Still, there is a certain defect in its definition. Therefore, it is redefined and studied in depth. For fuzzy positive operator between two fuzzy Riesz spaces, the notions of fuzzy order continuity, fuzzy boundedness, fuzzy Riesz homomorphisms, and isomorphisms are proposed and characterized nicely for practical uses.

- In Chapter 4 we study the space of all fuzzy order bounded positive linear operators denoted by $L_b(K, H)$. We show that it is fuzzy Dedekind complete when (H, μ) is fuzzy Dedekind complete by defining suitable fuzzy lattice operations. The set of all fuzzy order (σ -order) continuous bounded linear operators denoted $L_n(K, H)(L_c(K, H))$ are showed to be fuzzy bands of $L_b(K, H)$ when H is fuzzy Dedekind complete and $L_n(K, H) \subseteq L_c(K, H)$. As a special case, we also study other related concepts like separation properties, fuzzy order continuous dual, and σ -fuzzy order continuous dual on K.
- In Chapter 5, to handle the imprecise and vague scenarios more effectively, we propose a novel concept unbounded fuzzy order convergence to deal with unbounded fuzzy ordered nets. Then, an in-depth theoretical investigation is done to study its various properties. However, it is much harder to determine the unbounded fuzzy order convergence of a given net in several practical scenarios. To resolve this issue, the notion of the fuzzy weak order unit is proposed to reduce the labour of checking unbounded fuzzy order convergence. Thus, unbounded fuzzy order convergence is nicely characterized in fuzzy Dedekind complete Riesz spaces. To further develop the theory for practical use, the completeness of a fuzzy Riesz space is also explored with respect to unbounded fuzzy order der convergence. For this purpose, we study the fuzzy ideals and fuzzy bands connected with fuzzy order convergence, and some results are given in the end as applications.
- In Chapter 6, we study the fuzzy normed Riesz space, which is an experiment to investigate vector space with fuzzy ordering and a compatible fuzzy norm. We prove several results and investigate fuzzy Banach lattices (complete fuzzy normed Riesz space). Also, we study the connections between the topological structure and fuzzy lattice structure of a fuzzy Riesz space, when the induced topology of the fuzzy norm is locally convex-solid. We show that topological dual is a fuzzy ideal in the fuzzy order dual. Furthermore, to

deal with unbounded nets, we define a novel notion unbounded fuzzy norm convergence in a fuzzy Banach lattice and investigate its various properties. Unbounded fuzzy order convergence implies unbounded fuzzy norm convergence when a fuzzy norm is order continuous and for fuzzy norm bounded nets both notions unbounded fuzzy norm convergence and fuzzy norm convergence coincides. We define the notion of a fuzzy quasi interior point to ease the practical checking of unbounded fuzzy norm convergence. Besides, every disjoint sequence is unbounded fuzzy order convergent to zero, but this fact is not valid for unbounded fuzzy norm convergence. However, any sequence which is unbounded norm convergent to zero has an asymptotically disjoint subsequence. Lastly, we work with the topological aspect of unbounded fuzzy order convergence. We know unbounded fuzzy order convergence is not topological, but the same is not true for unbounded fuzzy order convergence and we can construct its compatible topology.

The results of Chapter 3 and Chapter 5 are reported in [29] and [28], respectively. Whereas, the remaining work is currently submitted to well-reputed international journals, see the preprints [30, 31].

Chapter 2

Basics concepts

We present here some basic concepts about fuzzy Riesz spaces, which is a vector space compatible with fuzzy ordering. Since these spaces have several structures on them, and we provide a brief overview of the background material. We recall some basic concepts and advise reader to consult them for further explanation if needed [9, 13, 16, 21, 26, 28, 37, 38, 41, 43, 54, 57]. We start by reviewing the theory of a fuzzy ordered set.

2.1 Fuzzy order set

Definition 2.1.1. A fuzzy subset C of K is characterized through a membership function $\phi_C: K \to [0, 1]$, which corresponds with every point $k \in K$ its grade or degree of membership $\phi_C(k) \in [0, 1]$. If $\phi_C(k)$ closer to one higher the degree of membership of k in C.

Definition 2.1.2. A fuzzy order ϕ on a set K is a fuzzy set on $K \times K$ with the understanding that k precedes g iff $\phi(k,g) > 1/2$ for $k, g \in K$ and the following conditions are also satisfied:

(i) $\forall k \in K \phi(k, k) = 1$ (reflexivity);

(ii) for $k, g \in K \phi(k, g) + \phi(g, k) > 1$ implies k = g (antisymmetric);

(iii) for $k, h \in K \ \phi(k, h) \ge \bigvee_{g \in K} [\phi(k, g) \land \phi(g, h)]$ (transitivity).

The space (K, ϕ) is called fuzzy ordered set (FOS).

Let (K, ϕ) be an FOS, for $k \in K$ two related fuzzy sets $\uparrow k$ and $\downarrow k$ are known as $(\uparrow k)(g) = \phi(k, g)$ and $(\downarrow k)(g) = \phi(g, k)$ for $g \in K$, respectively.

Definition 2.1.3. Let (K, ϕ) be an FOS. For $C \subseteq K$, then two fuzzy sets U(C) and L(C) are defined as follows.

$$U(C)(g) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } (\uparrow k)(g) \le 1/2 \text{ for some } k \in C; \\ (\cap_{k \in C} \uparrow k)(g) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
$$L(C)(g) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } (\downarrow k)(g) \le 1/2 \text{ for some } k \in C; \\ (\cap_{k \in C} \downarrow k)(g) & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Let $(C)^u$ denotes the set of all upper bounds of C and $k \in (C)^u$ if U(C)(k) > 0. Analogously, $(C)^l$ denotes the set of all lower bounds and $k \in (C)^l$ if L(C)(k) > 0. Also, $d \in K$ is known as the supremum of C in K if (i) $d \in (C)^u$ (ii) $g \in (C)^u$ implies $g \in (d)^u$. The infimum is defined analogously. A subset C is said to be fuzzy order bounded if $(C)^u$ and $(C)^l$ are non-empty. For $C \subseteq K$, $(C)^u$ denotes $(suppC)^u$, where $C = \{k \in K; \phi_C(k) > 0\}$ is said to be the support of C. Analogously, $(C)^l$ denotes $(suppC)^l$.

Proposition 2.1.4. If C is a subset of FOS K then $\inf C(\sup C)$, if it exists is unique.

The notations $k \vee g = \sup\{k, g\}$ and $k \wedge g = \inf\{k, g\}$.

Proposition 2.1.5. If K is a FOS then the following identities hold,

- (i) $g \wedge g = g$ and $g \vee g = g$ (idempotent).
- (ii) $k \wedge g = g \wedge k$ and $k \vee g = g \vee k$ (commutative).
- (iii) $k \wedge (k \vee g) = k \vee (k \wedge g)$ (absorption).
- (iv) $\phi(k,g) > 1/2$ iff $k \wedge k = k$ and $k \vee k = g$

2.2 Fuzzy order linear space

Definition 2.2.1. A real vector space K with fuzzy order ϕ is known as fuzzy ordered vector space (FOVS) if ϕ satisfies:

- (i) for $k, g \in K$ if $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$ then $\phi(k, g) \le \phi(k + h, g + h)$ for all $h \in K$;
- (ii) for $k, g \in K$ if $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$ then $\phi(k, g) \le \phi(\lambda k, \lambda g)$ for all $0 \le \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$;

For $k \in K$ is known as positive if $\phi(0, k) > 1/2$, and negative if $\phi(k, 0) > 1/2$. Also K^+ as set of all positive elements in K, i.e. $K^+ = \{k \in K : \phi(0, k) > 1/2\}$ is referred to as the fuzzy positive cone. $C \subseteq K$ is called *directed upwards* if for each finite subset D of C we have $C \cap (D)^u \neq \emptyset$. The *directed downwards* set is defined analogously. Furthermore, for a net $(k_\lambda)_{\lambda \in \Lambda} k_\lambda \uparrow k$ reads as the net (k_λ) is directed upwards to k i.e. for $\lambda_0 \leq \lambda$ we have $\phi(k_{\lambda_0}, k_\lambda) > 1/2$ and $\sup\{k_\lambda\} = k$. $k_\lambda \downarrow k$ is defined analogously.

It is observed that from Definition 2.2.1, if $\phi(k_1, k_2) > 1/2$ and $\phi(k_3, k_4) > 1/2$ then $\phi(k_1 + k_3, k_2 + k_4) > 1/2$. Now some identities are presented in the following proposition.

Proposition 2.2.2. Let K be an FOVS, $k, k_1, k_2 \in K$ and λ, γ real numbers then:

- (i) if k_1 and k_2 are positive then their sum $k_1 + k_2$ is also positive.
- (ii) if k is positive and $\lambda \ge 0$ then λk is too;
- (*iii*) $\phi(k_1, k_2) > 1/2$ and $\lambda \leq 0$ then $\phi(\lambda k_2, \lambda k_1) > 1/2$;
- (iv) $\phi(k_1, k_2) > 1/2$ and $\lambda \leq \gamma$ then $\phi(\lambda k_1, \gamma k_2) > 1/2$.

Proposition 2.2.3. Let $\{k_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ be a system of elements in a FOVS. If the element $\bigvee_{\lambda \in \Lambda} k_{\lambda}$ exists then $\bigwedge_{\lambda \in \Lambda} (-k_{\lambda})$ too, and the following equality holds

$$\bigvee_{\lambda \in \Lambda} k_{\lambda} = -\bigwedge_{\lambda \in \Lambda} (-k_{\lambda}).$$

Proposition 2.2.4. Let $\{k_{\lambda}\}_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ and $\{g_{\lambda}\}_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ be two systems of elements in a FOVS. If $\bigvee_{\lambda \in \Lambda} k_{\lambda}$ and $\bigvee_{\gamma \in \Gamma} g_{\gamma}$ exist then $\bigvee_{\lambda \in \Lambda, \gamma \in \Gamma} (k_{\lambda} + g_{\gamma})$ exists too, and the following equality holds

$$\bigvee_{\lambda \in \Lambda, \gamma \in \Gamma} (k_{\lambda} + g_{\gamma}) = \bigvee_{\lambda \in \Lambda} k_{\lambda} + \bigvee_{\gamma \in \Gamma} g_{\gamma}.$$

Definition 2.2.5. An FOVS (K, ϕ) is said to be Archimedean if $\phi(nk, g) > 1/2$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ implies that $\phi(k, 0) > 1/2$ for all $k, g \in K$. Therefore, $\{\frac{k}{n}\} \downarrow 0$ and $\{nk\}$ is unbounded from above for all $0 \neq k \in K^+$.

2.3 Fuzzy Riesz space

Definition 2.3.1. An FOVS (K, ϕ) is said to be fuzzy Riesz space (FRS) if $k \lor g$ and $k \land g$ exist in K for all $k, g \in K$.

Definition 2.3.2. An FRS (K, ϕ) is called:

- (i) fuzzy order complete if each non-empty subset of K has a supremum and infimum in K;
- (ii) fuzzy σ order complete if each nonempty countable subset of K has a supremum and infimum in K;
- (iii) fuzzy Dedekind complete if each non-empty subset of K which is bounded from above has a supremum in K;
- (iv) fuzzy σ Dedekind complete if each nonempty countable subset of K which is bounded from above has a supremum in K.

Remark 2.3.3. The notion of order completeness and Dedekind completeness is considered to be the same by some authors, see [3, 4]. However, we follow the approach of Zaanen [66] and differentiate between these terms as defined above. We write Dedekind complete FRS. **Lemma 2.3.4.** If (K, ϕ) is a Dedekind complete FRS then K is fuzzy Archimedean.

For $k \in K$, $k^+ = k \vee 0$ and $k^- = (-k) \vee 0$ are defined to be the positive and negative part of k, respectively, whereas the absolute value of k is known as $|k| = (-k) \vee k$. Furthermore, for $C \subseteq K$ one can easily prove that:

- i. $k + \sup C = \sup(k + C);$
- ii. $k + \inf C = \inf(k + C)$.

Proposition 2.3.5. If k and g are elements of an FRS (K, ϕ) , then

- (i) $k = k^+ k^-;$
- (*ii*) $k^+ \wedge k^- = 0$;
- (*iii*) $|k| = k^+ + k^-;$
- (iv) $|k| = 0 \Leftrightarrow k = 0;$
- (v) $k+g = k \lor g + k \land g$.

Theorem 2.3.6. If $k, h \in K$ and real number $\lambda \ge 0$ then following hold:

- (i) $\phi((k+h)^-, k^-+h^-) > 1/2;$
- (*ii*) $\phi((k+h)^+, k^+ + h^+) > 1/2;$
- (*iii*) $(\lambda k)^+ = \lambda k^+;$
- (iv) $(\lambda k)^- = \lambda k^-$.

Theorem 2.3.7. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS. Then following properties are satisfied:

- (i) $\phi(|k+g|, |k|+|g|) > 1/2;$
- (ii) $\phi(|k| |g|, |k g|) > 1/2;$

- (*iii*) $|\lambda k| = |\lambda| |k|;$
- (iv) $|k-g| = k \lor g k \land g$.

The decomposition property of an FRS can be seen in the upcoming theorem.

Theorem 2.3.8. If $\phi(|k|, |g_1 + ... + g_n|) > 1/2$ in an FRS (K, ϕ) then there exist $k_1, ..., k_n$ satisfying $k = k_1, ..., k_n$ and $\phi(k_i, g_i) > 1/2$ for each i = 1, ..., n. Furthermore, for positive k, k_i are also positive.

Let $k_1, k_2 \in K$ are called orthogonal or disjoint if $k_1 \wedge k_2 = 0$ and written as $k_1 \perp k_2$. Also, for $C_1, C_2 \subset K$ are called disjoint and denoted by $C_1 \perp C_2$ if $k_1 \perp k_2 = 0$ for each $k_1 \in C_1$ and $k_2 \in C_2$. Moreover, if $\emptyset \neq C \subseteq K$, then its disjoint complement is defined as $C^d = \{k \in K : k \perp g \text{ for each } g \in C\}$. Notation C^{dd} represents the disjoint complement of C^d .

Theorem 2.3.9. If $k \perp g$ then:

- (i) $(k+g)^+ = k^+ + g^+;$
- (*ii*) $(k+g)^- = k^- + g^-;$
- (*iii*) |k+g| = |k| + |g|.

Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS and $k, g \in K$ with $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$. Then the fuzzy order interval $[k, g] \subseteq K$ is given by

$$[k,g] = \{h \in K : \phi(k,h) > 1/2 \text{ and } \phi(h,g) > 1/2\}.$$

A fuzzy positive operator, P between two FRSs, is a linear map $P: K \to H$ such that $P(k) \in H^+$ for all $k \in K^+$.

Lemma 2.3.10. If P is an additive fuzzy positive operator between an FRS (K, ϕ) and Archimedean FRS (H, μ) then P is homogeneous. **Lemma 2.3.11.** If $P : K^+ \to H$ is a fuzzy positive operator with H is a vector space, satisfying P(k+g) = P(k) + P(g) for each $k, g \in K^+$ then P extends uniquely to an additive positive operator $V : K \to H$. Furthermore,

$$V(k) = P(k^{+}) - P(k^{-})$$

for $k \in K$.

2.3.1 Fuzzy Riesz subspaces

A vector subspace L of an FRS (K, ϕ) is known as *fuzzy Riesz subspace* if L is closed under the fuzzy Riesz operations \lor and \land .

Definition 2.3.12. A net $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ in an FRS (K, ϕ) is known as fuzzy order convergent to $k \in K$ denoted $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} k$ if there exists another net $(g_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ in K^{+} directed downwards to zero such that $\phi(|k_{\lambda} - k|, g_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ for each $\lambda \in \Lambda$.

Definition 2.3.13. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS.

- (i) A subset C of K is said to be fuzzy order closed (fo-closed for short), if for any net $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda} \subset C$ and $k \in K$ with $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} k$ in K implies $k \in C$.
- (ii) A subset C of K is said to be σ -fuzzy order closed, if for any net $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C$ and $k \in K$ with $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{\sigma}} k$ in K implies $k \in C$.
- (iii) A subset S of K is called fuzzy solid if $\phi(|k|, |g|) > 1/2$ and $g \in S$ implies $k \in S$.
- (iv) A fuzzy solid vector subspace is called a fuzzy ideal of K.
- (v) A fuzzy order closed ideal in K is said to be a fuzzy band.

Suppose C is a subset of an FRS (K, ϕ) . I_C is the smallest fuzzy ideal generated by C. If a vector $k \in K$ generates a fuzzy ideal denoted I_k is called the principal fuzzy ideal. **Theorem 2.3.14.** Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS and $C \subseteq K$. Then there exists a unique I_C that can be described as

$$I_{C} = \{k \in K \exists k_{1}, ..., k_{m} \text{ and } \alpha \geq 0 \text{ such that } \phi(|k|, \alpha \sum_{j=1}^{m} |k_{j}|) > 1/2\}.$$

Corollary 2.3.15. If (K, ϕ) is an FRS and $k \in K$ then fuzzy ideal generated by k is described as

 $I_k = \{g \in K \text{ and } \alpha \ge 0 \text{ such that } \phi(|g|, \alpha |k|) > 1/2\}.$

Theorem 2.3.16. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS and $C \subseteq K$. Then following statements are true:

- (i) $C \subset C^{dd}$;
- (ii) $C^d = C^{ddd};$
- (*iii*) $C^d \cap C^{dd} = \{0\};$
- (iv) If $C^d = \{0\}$ then $C^{dd} = K$;
- (v) C^d is a fuzzy ideal of K.

2.4 Fuzzy normed spaces

Definition 2.4.1. Consider a vector space K over a field F and \star a continuous t-norm on [0,1]. A fuzzy norm on K is a mapping $N : K \times (0,\infty) \to [0,1]$ if for each $k, g \in K$ and $\lambda \in F$:

- (i) for each $t \in (0, \infty)$ with $t > 0, N(k, t) = 1 \Leftrightarrow k = 0$;
- (ii) for each $t \in (0, \infty)$ with t > 0, $N(\lambda k, t) = N(k, \frac{t}{\lambda})$;
- (iii) for each $t, s \in (0, \infty)$ with $t \ge 0$, $N(k, t) \star N(g, s) \le N(k+g, t+s)$;

- (iv) $N(k, .): (0, \infty) \rightarrow [0, 1]$ is continuous;
- (v) $\lim_{t\to\infty} N(k,t) = 1;$

for each $k, g \in K$ and t, s > 0. The triple (K, N, \star) is called fuzzy norm space.

Definition 2.4.2. A sequence $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ in a fuzzy norm space is said to be:

(i) convergent to $k \in K$ denoted $k_n \xrightarrow{f_n} k$ if for each $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $s > 0, \exists n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$N(k_n - k, s) > 1 - \alpha$$

for each $n > n_0$.

(ii) fuzzy cauchy if for each $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $s > 0, \exists n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$N(k_n - k_m, s) > 1 - \alpha$$

for each $n, m > n_0$.

2.4.1 Fuzzy topological spaces

Definition 2.4.3. A family τ of fuzzy sets of K is known as fuzzy topology if

- (i) τ contain all constant fuzzy sets in K;
- (ii) for $\{C_i\}_{i\in\Delta} \in \tau$ we have $\sup_{i\in\Delta} C_i \in \tau$;
- (iii) if $C, D \in \tau$ then $C \wedge D \in \tau$.

The pair (K, τ) is said to be fuzzy topological space (FTS).

A fuzzy set C in (K, τ) is a *neighborhood* of a point $k \in K$ iff $N \leq C$ and N(k) = C(k) > 0for $N \in \tau$. A map U from a FTS K to a FTS H is called *continuous* at some $k \in K$ if $U^{-1}(N)$ is a neighborhood of k in K for each neighborhood N of U(k) in H. A net $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ in a FTS (K, τ) converges to a point k denoted $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f\tau} k$ if given a neighborhood N of k, there exists a $\lambda_0 \in \Lambda$ such that $k_{\lambda} \in N$ whenever $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$.

A fuzzy set $C \subseteq K$ is called *convex* if $\alpha C + (1 - \alpha)C \leq C$ for each $\alpha \in [0, 1]$, *balanced* if $\alpha C \leq C$ for each scalar α with $|\alpha| \leq 1$ and *absorbing* if $\sup_{\alpha>0} \alpha C = 1$.

Definition 2.4.4. A fuzzy topology τ on a vector space K over field \mathbb{R} is a fuzzy linear topology if the two mappings

 $(i) + : K \times K \to K, (k,g) \mapsto k + g;$

$$(ii) \cdot : \mathbb{R} \times K \to K, \ (k,g) \mapsto \lambda k.$$

are continuous when $\mathbb{R} \times K$, $K \times K$ the corresponding product fuzzy topologies and \mathbb{R} has the usual fuzzy topology. The pair (K, τ) is called fuzzy topological vector space.

Chapter 3

The existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion of Archimedean fuzzy Riesz space

Completeness plays an essential role in fuzzy metric space, fuzzy norm space, and fuzzy inner product space. Therefore, it is essential to question whether or not the fuzzy Dedekind completion of incomplete fuzzy Riesz space exists? To address this issue, we prove the existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion of Archimedean fuzzy Riesz spaces.

3.1 Fuzzy order convergence

Although the notion of fuzzy order convergence is a central tool in studying fuzzy Riesz spaces, the Definition 2.3.12 given in [9, 26] has some limitations that cannot truly fulfill the concept of convergence. Intuitively if we add some terms at the start of the net then the convergence should not change. The following example illustrates our point.

Example 3.1.1. Let (K, μ) be an Archimedean FRS. Then for $k \in K^+$ the net $\{\frac{k}{n}\} \downarrow 0$. Therefore, $\frac{k}{n} \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ according to Definition 5.0.1. On the other hand, negative integers are added and placed between 1 and 2 in the index set. Thus the new index set is denoted as

$$\Lambda = \{1, -1, -2, -3, \dots, 2, 3, 4, \dots\}.$$

The extended net (g_n) is defined as

$$g_n = \begin{cases} k, & \text{if } n = 1\\ |n|k, & \text{if } n \in -\mathbb{N};\\ \frac{k}{n}, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Clearly, (g_n) is not fuzzy order convergent to zero according to the Definition 5.0.1.

This deficiency is pointed out in [1] for the classical order convergence. Therefore, a new definition is proposed in [28] to overcome this issue, given as follows.

Definition 3.1.2. A net $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ in an FRS (K, μ) is known as fuzzy order convergent to $k \in K$ denoted $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_0} k$ if there exists another net $(g_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ in K^+ directed downwards to zero and for each $\gamma \in \Gamma$ there exist $\lambda_0 \in \Lambda$ such that $\mu(|k_{\lambda} - k|, g_{\gamma}) > 1/2$ whenever $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$.

One can check that the extended net in Example 3.1.1 is fuzzy order convergent to zero according to Definition 3.1.2. Clearly, Definition 2.3.12 implies Definition 3.1.2 and many proven results for Definition 2.3.12 also hold for Definition 3.1.2 with analogous proofs given in [9, 12, 26]. The next theorem has the same proof as in [10, 26] according to definition 3.1.2.

Theorem 3.1.3. If $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ and $(g_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ are nets in an FRS (K, ϕ) then the following statements are true:

- (i) the fuzzy order limit is unique;
- (ii) every fuzzy order convergent net is fuzzy order bounded;
- (iii) if $k_{\lambda} \uparrow (k_{\lambda} \downarrow)$ then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} k$ iff $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k (k_{\lambda} \downarrow k)$;

- (iv) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{o}} k$ then $k_{\lambda}^{+} \xrightarrow{f_{o}} k$, $k_{\lambda}^{-} \xrightarrow{f_{o}} k$ and $|k_{\lambda}| \xrightarrow{f_{o}} |k|$;
- (v) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} k$ then any subnet of k_{λ} is fuzzy order convergent to k;
- (vi) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} k$ and $g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{fo} g$ then $k_{\lambda} \vee g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{fo} k \vee g$ and $k_{\lambda} \wedge g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{fo} k \wedge g$;
- (vii) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} k$ and $g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{fo} g$ then $ak_{\lambda} + bg_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{fo} ak + bg$ for each $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$.

Now we characterized fuzzy Dedekind complete FRS in terms of fuzzy order convergence.

Proposition 3.1.4. An FRS (K, ϕ) is fuzzy Dedekind complete if and only if for every increasing net (k_{λ}) in K^+ , $(k_{\lambda})^u \neq \emptyset$ there exists some $h \in K$ such that $k_{\lambda} \uparrow h$ i.e. $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{\phi}} h$.

Proof. The forward implication is obvious. Conversely, take $\emptyset \neq C \subseteq K$ which is bounded above. Without loss, we assume that C admits supremum of its finite elements. Take $k \in C$, consider the set $C_1 = \{k \lor g : g \in C\}$, then $(C_1)^u = (C)^u \neq \emptyset$ and C_1 is directed upward. Therefore, it is sufficient to show that supremum of C_1 exists. Define $C_2 = \{j - k : j \in C_1\}$ then $C_2 \subseteq K^+$ and also it is directed upward so we can consider it as a net $(j - k)_{(j-k)\in C_2}$, which is increasing and bounded above. Thus, by hypothesis there is some h with $(j - k) \uparrow h$ i.e. $\sup(j - k) = h$. Whereas, $h = \sup(C_2) = \sup(C_1) - k$, hence $\sup(C) = h + k$ exits. \Box

Remark 3.1.5. Let (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS with $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ a fuzzy order bounded net. Then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{o}} k$ iff $k = \limsup_{\lambda} (k_{\lambda}) = \liminf_{\lambda} (k_{\lambda})$.

The rest of this section is dedicated to develop the basic notions and prove detailed results that will be applied in Section 3.4 to define fuzzy Dedekind completion and prove its existence. In this regard, many important notions for fuzzy Riesz subspaces are defined and studied in detail.

Definition 3.1.6. A fuzzy Riesz subspace L of an FRS (K, ϕ) is said to be:

- (i) fuzzy order dense if $(k)^l \cap L^+ \{0\} \neq \emptyset$ for $0 \neq k \in K^+$;
- (ii) fuzzy majorizing if $(k)^u \cap L^+ \neq \emptyset$ for $0 \neq k \in K^+$;

- (iii) fuzzy dense with respect to the fuzzy order convergence if every vector of K is a fuzzy order limit of a net in L;
- (iv) fuzzy regular for $A \subseteq L$, inf A is same in K and L whenever inf A exists in L.

One can easily prove the following simple proposition.

Proposition 3.1.7. Let L be a fuzzy Riesz subspace of an FRS (K, ϕ) . Then following statements are equivalent:

- (i) L is a fuzzy regular Riesz subspace of K;
- (ii) if $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in L, then $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in K;
- (iii) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} k$ in L, then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} k$ in K.

The relationship between fuzzy regular and fuzzy order dense Riesz subspace is discussed in the following result.

Proposition 3.1.8. Every fuzzy order dense Riesz subspace L of an FRS (K, ϕ) is fuzzy regular.

Proof. Take a net $g_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in L. Suppose on the contrary that $(g_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ is not directed downwards to zero in K then there exists some $0 \neq k \in K^+$ with $\phi(k, g_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ for all λ . Since L is fuzzy order dense, there exists $0 \neq g \in L^+$ such that $\phi(g, k) > 1/2$. Thus $\phi(g, g_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ in Lfor all λ , a contradiction. Hence by the Proposition 3.1.7 L is fuzzy regular.

The following result characterizes fuzzy order denseness and majorizingness for the Archimedean FRS (k, ϕ) .

Theorem 3.1.9. Let L be a fuzzy Riesz subspace of an Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) . Then following statements are true:

(i) L is fuzzy order dense iff $k = \sup\{g \in L^+ : \phi(g,k) > 1/2\}$ holds for each $k \in K^+$.

(ii) L is fuzzy majorizing iff $k = \inf\{g \in L^+ : \phi(k,g) > 1/2\}$ holds for each $k \in K^+$.

Proof. (i): If $k = \sup\{g \in L^+ : \phi(g,k) > 1/2\}$ holds for all $k \in K^+$, then clearly L is fuzzy order dense in K.

Conversely, let L is fuzzy order dense, so the set $\{g \in L^+ : \phi(g,k) > 1/2\} \neq \emptyset$ for each k in K^+ . Assume that there is some $k \in K^+$ such that $k \neq \sup\{g \in L^+ : \phi(g,k) > 1/2\}$. Therefore, there exists $u \in K^+$ with $u \neq k$, $\phi(u,k) > 1/2$ and whenever $\phi(g,k) > 1/2$ for $g \in L^+$ we have $\phi(g,u) > 1/2$. Since L is fuzzy order dense in K, so there exists $0 \neq d \in L^+$ with $\phi(d,k-u) > 1/2$, by transitivity $\phi(d,k) > 1/2$ and hence $\phi(d,u) > 1/2$. Therefore, $\phi(2d = d + d, k - u + u) > 1/2$, by induction $\phi(nd,k) > 1/2$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, a contradiction to the fuzzy Archimedean property.

(ii): If $k = \inf\{g \in L^+ : \phi(k,g) > 1/2\}$ for each $k \in K^+$, then clearly L is fuzzy majorizing.

Conversely, let L be fuzzy majorizing. Then, the set $C := \{g \in L^+ : \phi(k,g) > 1/2\} \neq \emptyset$, so there exists $u \in L^+$ with $\phi(k,u) > 1/2$ and $[k,u] \cap L^+ \subseteq C$. Thus,

$$\inf \{ [k, u] \cap L^+ \} = u - \sup \{ [0, u - k] \cap L^+ \},\$$
$$= u - (u - k) = k.$$

Hence, $\inf C = k$.

Fuzzy order convergence in FRS (K, ϕ) does not imply fuzzy order convergence in its fuzzy Riesz subspaces unless the fuzzy Riesz subspace is fuzzy order dense and majorizing.

Proposition 3.1.10. Let $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ be a net in the fuzzy order dense and majorizing Riesz subspace L. Then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in L iff $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in FRS (K, ϕ) .

Proof. Since L is fuzzy order dense by the Proposition 3.1.8 it is fuzzy regular. Therefore the forward implication is obvious due to the Proposition 3.1.7.

Conversely, in K we let $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$, such that there exists a net $g_{\gamma} \downarrow 0$ in K^+ with, for all

 $\gamma \in \Gamma$ there exists λ_0 such that for all $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$ we have $\phi(|k_\lambda|, g_\gamma) > 1/2$. Put

$$C = \{ h \in L^+ : \phi(g_{\gamma}, h) > 1/2 \text{ for some } \gamma \in \Gamma \}.$$

Then, $C \neq \emptyset$ as L is fuzzy majorizing. Let $k = \inf C$ in K then $\phi(k, g_{\gamma}) > 1/2$ for all $\gamma \in \Gamma$. Therefore, k = 0 as $g_{\gamma} \downarrow 0$, but L is fuzzy regular so $\inf C = 0$ as well in L. Thus, there exists a net $h_{\gamma} \downarrow 0$ in L^+ with $\phi(g_{\gamma}, h_{\gamma}) > 1/2$. Hence, $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{\phi}} 0$ in L.

3.2 Fuzzy positive linear operators

Fuzzy positive operators play a vital role in studying the fuzzy Riesz spaces, especially to find the fuzzy Dedekind completion. Therefore, they are studied in detail first.

Definition 3.2.1. A fuzzy positive operator P between the two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) is said to be:

- (i) fuzzy order bounded if $P(C) \subseteq H$ is fuzzy order bounded whenever $C \subseteq K$ is fuzzy order bounded;
- (*ii*) fuzzy σ -order continuous if $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$ in K implies $P(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$ in H;
- (*iii*) fuzzy order continuous if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$ in K implies $P(k_{\lambda}) \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$ in H.

The fuzzy order continuity of fuzzy positive operator implies the fuzzy order boundedness.

Proposition 3.2.2. Every fuzzy order continuous positive operator P is fuzzy order bounded.

Proof. Since P is a fuzzy order continuous positive operator between the two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) . For $g \in K^+$, consider the net $c_k := g - k$ for $k \in [0, g]$. Then $c_k \downarrow 0$, therefore, $P(c_k) \xrightarrow{f_0} 0$. Thus, the net

$$(P(c_k): k \in [0,g]) = (P(g-k): k \in [0,g]) = P([0,g])$$

is fuzzy order bounded in H.

The notion of fuzzy order continuous operators have nice characterizing conditions.

Theorem 3.2.3. If P is a fuzzy order continuous operator between two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) with H fuzzy Dedekind complete then underlying statements are equivalent:

- (i) P is fuzzy order continuous;
- (ii) if $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in K then $P(k_{\lambda}) \downarrow 0$ in H;
- (iii) if $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in K then $\inf(P(k_{\lambda})) = 0$ in H;
- (iv) P^+ and P^- are both fuzzy order continuous;
- (v) |P| is fuzzy order continuous.

Proof. $(i) \rightarrow (ii)$ and $(ii) \rightarrow (iii)$ are obvious.

 $(iii) \rightarrow (iv)$ Let $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in K and $P(k_{\lambda}) \downarrow h$ in H for $h \in H^+$. We have to show that h = 0. Fixed some γ and put $k = k_{\gamma}$. Take $k, g \in K^+$ such that $\phi(g, k) > 1/2$ and for each $\lambda \succeq \gamma$ we have

$$g - g \wedge k_{\lambda} = g \wedge g - g \wedge k_{\lambda}$$
 and $\phi(g - g \wedge k_{\lambda}, k - k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$.

Therefore,

$$P(g) - P(g \wedge k_{\lambda}) = P(g - g \wedge k_{\lambda}), \ \mu(P(g - g \wedge k_{\lambda}), P^{+}(k - k_{\lambda})) > 1/2$$

and

$$P^{+}(k - k_{\lambda}) = P^{+}(k) - P^{+}(k_{\lambda})$$
 implies $\mu(P(g - g \wedge k_{\lambda}), P^{+}(k) - P^{+}(k_{\lambda})) > 1/2.$

It follows that

$$\mu(h, P^+(k_{\lambda})) > 1/2 \text{ and } \mu(P^+(k_{\lambda}), P^+(k) + P(g \land k_{\lambda}) - P(g)) > 1/2.$$
 (3.2.1)

Since $\phi(g,k) > 1/2$ we have $g \wedge k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ for each $\lambda \succeq \gamma$. It follows from (*iii*) that $\inf(P(g \wedge k_{\lambda})) = 0$. Therefore, from Equation 3.2.1 $\mu(h, P^+(k) - P(g)) > 1/2$ for each $\phi(g,k) > 1/2$. Thus, $P^+(k) = \sup\{P(g) : \phi(g,k) > 1/2\}$ implies that h = 0.

- $(iv) \rightarrow (v)$ is straightforward.
- $(v) \rightarrow (i)$ immediately follows from $\mu(|P(k)|, |P|(|k|)) > 1/2$.

For $k \in K$ we have $k = k^+ - k^-$, therefore, $K = K^+ - K^+$. Now the question is if a fuzzy positive operator is defined from K^+ to FRS (H, μ) then can it be extended to the entire FRS (K, ϕ) Beg [13, Lemma 2.4] gave a positive answer. Our work is related to the extension of fuzzy order continuous positive operator P from the fuzzy order dense and majorizing Riesz subspace L to the FRS (K, ϕ) .

Theorem 3.2.4. Let L be a fuzzy order dense and majorizing Riesz subspace of an FRS (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) is a Dedekind complete FRS. If P is a fuzzy order continuous positive operator from L into H then for $k \in K^+$

$$P(k) := \sup\{P(g) : g \in L^+ \text{ and } \phi(g,k) > 1/2\},\$$

P extend uniquely as a fuzzy order continuous linear operator to all of K.

Proof. For $k \in K^+$

$$V(k) = \sup\{P(g) : g \in L^+ \text{ and } \phi(g,k) > 1/2\},\$$

exists in H because it is fuzzy Dedekind complete and L is fuzzy order dense in K. Take $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ in L^+ . If $g \in L^+$ satisfies $\phi(g, k) > 1/2$ then $k_{\lambda} \land g \uparrow g$ in L^+ . Since P is fuzzy order continuous, therefore

$$P(g) = \sup\{P(k_{\lambda} \wedge g)\}.$$

So,

$$\mu(\sup\{P(k_{\lambda} \land g)\}, \sup\{P(k_{\lambda})\}) > 1/2 \text{ and } \mu(\sup\{P(k_{\lambda})\}, V(k)) > 1/2.$$

Hence, $P(k_{\lambda}) \uparrow V(k)$ in H.

Let $k, h \in K^+$, then by Theorem 3.1.9(i) there exist two nets $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ and $h_{\gamma} \uparrow h$ in L^+ . So, $k_{\lambda}+h_{\gamma} \uparrow k+h$. Hence, $P(k_{\lambda}) \uparrow V(k)$, $P(g_{\gamma}) \uparrow V(h)$ and $P(k_{\lambda})+P(h_{\gamma}) = P(k_{\lambda}+h_{\gamma}) \uparrow V(k+h)$. Therefore,

$$V(k+h) = V(k) + V(h).$$

Now as $V: K^+ \to H^+$ is an additive map, by [13, Lemma 2.4] it is the unique extension of P from K to H.

Lastly, V is proved to be fuzzy order continuous. Let $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ be a net in K^+ then there exists $h_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in L^+ with $\phi(k_{\lambda}, h_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$, due to the fact that L is fuzzy majorizing.

Moreover, $V(h_{\lambda}) = P(h_{\lambda}) \downarrow 0$ because P is fuzzy order continuous. Therefore, V is deduced that $\mu(V(k_{\lambda}), V(h_{\lambda})) > 1/2$ for all $\lambda \in \Lambda$. Hence, finally $V(k_{\lambda}) \downarrow 0$.

3.3 Fuzzy Riesz homomorphism

Here we will define and study the particular class of positive operators known as fuzzy Riesz homomorphism that preserves the fuzzy lattice structure.

Definition 3.3.1. A linear operator P between the two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) is called fuzzy Riesz homomorphism if $P(k \lor g) = P(k) \lor P(g)$ holds for all $k, g \in K$. In addition, if P is bijective then it is said to be fuzzy Riesz isomorphism.

Note that a fuzzy Riesz homomorphism is indeed a fuzzy positive operator. Indeed, for $k \in K^+$ $P(k) = P(k^+) = P(k \lor 0) = P(k) \lor P(0) = [P(k)]^+$. The notion of fuzzy Riesz homomorphism has several nice characterizing conditions.

Proposition 3.3.2. If P is a fuzzy positive operator between the two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) then the following statements are equivalent:

(i) P is a fuzzy Riesz homomorphism;

(*ii*)
$$P(k^+) = [P(k)]^+$$
 for each $k \in K$;

- (iii) $P(k \wedge h) = P(k) \wedge P(h)$ for each $k, h \in K$;
- (iv) if $k \wedge h = 0$ in K, then $P(k) \wedge P(h) = 0$ holds in H;
- (v) P(|k|) = |Pk| for each $k \in K$.

Proof. It is obvious that $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$. $(ii) \Rightarrow (iii)$

$$P(h \wedge k) = P(k - (k - h)^{+}) = P(k) - P(k - h)^{+}$$
$$= P(k) - (Pk - Ph)^{+} = Pk \wedge Ph.$$

 $\begin{aligned} (iii) \Rightarrow (iv) \text{ If } k \wedge h &= 0 \text{ then } Ph \wedge Pk = P(h \wedge k) = P(0) = 0. \\ (iv) \Rightarrow (v) \text{ In view if } k^+ \wedge k^- &= 0 \text{ we have} \end{aligned}$

$$|Pk| = |Pk^{+} - Pk^{-}| = Pk^{+} \vee Pk^{-} - Pk^{+} \wedge Pk^{-}$$
$$= Pk^{+} \vee Pk^{-} = Pk^{+} + Pk^{-} = P(k^{+} + k^{-})$$
$$= P(|k|).$$

 $(v) \Rightarrow (i)$ observe that

$$P(k \lor h) = P(1/2[k+h+|k-h|]) = 1/2[Pk+Ph+P(|k-h|)]$$
$$= 1/2[Pk+Ph+|Pk-Ph|] = Pk \lor Ph.$$

The fuzzy Riesz isomorphisms between the surjective fuzzy positive operators are characterized as follows.

Proposition 3.3.3. Let P be a bijective linear operator between the two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) . Then P is a fuzzy Riesz isomorphism iff both P and P^{-1} are fuzzy positive operators.

Proof. Since P is a fuzzy Riesz isomorphism, therefore, both P and P^{-1} are fuzzy positive operators.

Conversely, let $k, g \in K$. Then $\phi(k, k \vee g) > 1/2$ and $\phi(g, k \vee g) > 1/2$, thus

$$\mu(Pk, P(g \lor k)) > 1/2 \text{ and } \mu(Pg, P(g \lor k)) > 1/2.$$

Therefore,

$$\mu(Pg \lor Pk, P(g \lor k)) > 1/2.$$
(3.3.1)

Also, P^{-1} is fuzzy positive operator, so by similar arguments as above.

$$\phi(P^{-1}a \vee P^{-1}b, P^{-1}(a \vee b)) > 1/2,$$

for each $a, b \in H$. Particularly, for a = Pk and b = Pg we have

$$\phi(k \lor g, P^{-1}(Pk \lor Pg)) > 1/2,$$

which implies

$$\mu(P(k \lor g), Pk \lor Pg) > 1/2.$$

Hence, the above combined with the Equation 3.3.1, we have

$$P(k \lor g) = Pk \lor Pg.$$

26

3.4 Fuzzy Dedekind completion

This section aims to prove the existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion for an incomplete FRS. In this regard, we know that a Dedekind complete FRS is fuzzy Archimedean [26, Lemma 5.9]. Thus, one can hope to find the fuzzy Dedekind completion only for an Archimedean FRS.

Definition 3.4.1. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS. A Dedekind complete FRS (H, μ) is said to be the fuzzy Dedekind completion of K if K is fuzzy Riesz isomorphic to a fuzzy majorizing and order dense Riesz subspace of H. Furthermore, (H, μ) is unique up to fuzzy Riesz isomorphisms.

The fundamental result in this section will be that any Archimedean FRS has a fuzzy Dedekind completion indeed. To achieve our goal, we adopt a somewhat more general approach and start our work on fuzzy ordered sets.

Two FOSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) are called fuzzy order isomorphic, if their exists a bijective map P between them that preserves the fuzzy ordering i.e. $\mu(P(k), P(g)) > 1/2$ iff $\phi(k, g) >$ 1/2 for all $k, g \in K$. Furthermore, a mapping P from an FOS (K, ϕ) into FOS (H, μ) preserves the suprema and infima, if $u = \sup C$ and $l = \inf C$ in K then $P(u) = \sup P(C)$ and $P(l) = \inf P(C)$ in H for any subset C of K.

Consider the following conditions for an injective mapping P between the two FOSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) :

- (a) K and its image P(K) are fuzzy order isomorphic;
- (b) P preserves suprema and infima.

The above conditions do not imply each other in general.

Proposition 3.4.2. Let P be an injective mapping between the two FOSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) . Then following hold:

(i) if K is a fuzzy lattice then (b) implies (a);

(ii) if K and H are two fuzzy lattices and also for $g \in H$ the following holds

$$g = \sup\{P(k) : \mu(P(k), g) > 1/2\} = \inf\{P(k) : \mu(g, P(k)) > 1/2\},\$$

then (a) implies (b).

Proof. (i): Let $\mu(P(k_1), P(k_2)) > 1/2$ for k_1, k_2 in K. As P preserves the suprema, therefore

$$P(k_1 \lor k_2) = P(k_1) \lor P(k_2) = P(k_2).$$

Thus, $k_1 \vee k_2 = k_2$, hence $\phi(k_1, k_2) > 1/2$. Analogously, $\phi(k_1, k_2) > 1/2$ implies $\mu(P(k_1), P(k_2)) > 1/2$.

(ii): Take two fuzzy lattices K and H, satisfying the given condition. Let $k_0 = \sup\{C\}$ for $C \subset K$. Suppose on the contrary that $P(k_0) \neq \sup\{P(C)\}$, then there exists $g_1 \in (P(C))^u$ such that $g_1 \neq P(k_0)$ and $\mu(g_1, P(k_0)) > 1/2$. Therefore, $g_1 = \inf\{P(k) : \mu(g_1, P(k)) > 1/2\}$, so there is some k_1 in K with $\mu(g_1, P(k_1)) > 1/2$, $P(k_1) \neq P(k_0)$ and $\mu(P(k_1), P(k_0)) > 1/2$. But, on the other hand $\phi(z, k_1) > 1/2$ for each $z \in C$ which implies $\phi(k_0, k_1) > 1/2$, hence $\mu(P(k_0), P(k_1)) > 1/2$, a contradiction.

Definition 3.4.3. Consider (K, ϕ) is an FOS. Then a subset C of K is called fuzzy cut if $(C^u)^l = C.$

From here on $(C^u)^l$ will be written as C^{ul} . Clearly, \emptyset and K are the fuzzy cuts. Therefore, the set of all fuzzy cuts is non-empty. Also, one can easily prove that C^{ul} is a fuzzy cut. It is the smallest fuzzy cut containing C. Let K^{δ} be the set of all fuzzy cuts except \emptyset and K. The fuzzy order ψ on K^{δ} is defined as follows.

$$\psi(C,D) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } C = D; \\ 2/3 & \text{if } C \subset D; \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(3.4.1)

for $C, D \in K^{\delta}$.

Consider an FOS (K^{δ}, ψ) . If K has no largest or smallest element, then K must contain at least two elements. Moreover, for $k_0 \neq k_1$, we have $\{k_0\}^{ul} \neq \{k_1\}^{ul}$.

Theorem 3.4.4. Let (K, ϕ) be an FOS containing no smallest or largest element. Then (K^{δ}, ψ) is a fuzzy order complete lattice. Moreover, the map $P(k) := \{k\}^{ul}$ from K to K^{δ} satisfies condition (ii). In addition, every fuzzy cut C satisfies the following

$$C = \sup\{\{k\}^{ul} : \psi(\{k\}^{ul}, C) > 1/2\} = \inf\{\{k\}^{ul} : \psi(C, \{k\}^{ul}) > 1/2\}.$$

Proof. Let (K, ϕ) be an FOS containing no smallest or largest element. Take $F \subset K^{\delta}$, then $D = (\bigcup_{C \in F} C)^{ul}$ is an upper bound of F in K^{δ} . Let D_1 be another upper bound, so $\bigcup_{C \in F} C \subseteq D_1$, therefore, $\psi(D, D_1) > 1/2$. Hence, $D = \sup(F)$. Analogously, $E = (\bigcap_{C \in F} C)^{ul}$ is the infima of F in K^{δ} . Thus K^{δ} is a fuzzy order complete lattice.

Take $C \subset K$ with $k_0 = \sup(C)$. Then $D = (\bigcup_{k \in C} \{k\}^{ul})^{ul}$, is the supremum of P(C) in K^{δ} . As $C^u = (\bigcup_{k \in C} \{k\}^{ul})^u$ and k_0 is the smallest element of C^u , therefore $D = (\bigcup_{k \in C} \{k\}^{ul})^{ul} = \{k : \phi(k, k_0) > 1/2\} = \{k_0\}^{ul}$. Hence P preserves the suprema. Analogously, it can be shown that P preserves the infima.

Finally, take $C \in K^{\delta}$, we have $k \in C$ iff $\psi(\{k\}^{ul}, C) > 1/2$. Thus

$$C = \bigcup_{\psi(\{k\}^{ul}, C) > 1/2} \{k\}^{ul}$$

Hence $C = \sup\{\{k\}^{ul} : \psi(\{k\}^{ul}, C) > 1/2\}$. Analogously, $C = \inf\{\{k\}^{ul} : \psi(C, \{k\}^{ul}) > 1/2\}$.

We are coming closer to our goal, indeed (K^{δ}, ψ) is the completion of an unbounded FOS (K, ϕ) . As an Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) has no smallest and largest element; therefore, the Theorem 3.4.4 holds for it. The next step is to define the algebraic operations on K^{δ} so that it can become an FRS for an Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) .

Definition 3.4.5. Given an Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) , we define addition and scalar multiplication on K^{δ} as follows

$$C \oplus D = (C+D)^{ul}, \qquad (3.4.2)$$

$$\lambda \circ C = \begin{cases} \lambda C & \text{if } \lambda > 0; \\ \{0\}^{ul} & \text{if } \lambda = 0; \\ \lambda C^u & \text{if } \lambda < 0, \end{cases} \qquad (3.4.3)$$

where $C, D \in K^{\delta}$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proposition 3.4.6. The FOS (K^{δ}, ψ) is an FRS with the operations \oplus and \circ given in the Definition 3.4.5.

Proof. Take $A, B \in K^{\delta}$. Then $A \oplus B = (A + B)^{ul} \neq K$ because $A \neq K$ and $B \neq K$. Hence \oplus is well defined on K^{δ} . The other axioms are verified as follows.

Associative property: Take $A, B, C \in K^{\delta}$. Let $Y = \{a + b + c : a \in A, b \in B, c \in C\}$, clearly, $Y \subseteq (A \oplus B) \oplus C$, therefore, Y^{ul} also contained in $(A \oplus B) \oplus C$. Conversely, let $y \in Y^u$, then $\phi(a + b + c, y) > 1/2$ holds for $a \in A, b \in B$ and $c \in C$. So $\phi(a + b, y - c) > 1/2$, therefore, $y - c \in (A + B)^{ul}$. Thus $\phi(z, y - c) > 1/2$ holds for each $z \in A + B$. However, $\phi(z+c, y) > 1/2$ holds and implies $y \in \{(A+B)+C\}^u$. Hence $(A \oplus B) \oplus C = Y^{ul}$. Analogously, $A \oplus (B \oplus C) = Y^{ul}$. Therefore,

$$(A \oplus B) \oplus C = A \oplus (B \oplus C).$$

Additive identity: The element $C_0 = \{0\}^{ul} = -K^+$ plays the role of identity for operation \oplus . Take $C \in K^{\delta}$, now for $a \in C$ and $m \in C_0$ we have $\phi(c+m,c) > 1/2$ with equality holds if m = 0. Therefore, $M = \{c+m : c \in C, m \in C_0\}$ satisfies $M^u = C^u$, then $M^{ul} = C^{ul} = C$. Hence

$$C \oplus C_0 = C_0 \oplus C = C.$$

Also the additive identity is unique, indeed $B_0 \in K^{\delta}$ satisfies $C \oplus B_0 = B_0 \oplus C = C$ for all $C \in K^{\delta}$, then $C_0 = B_0$.

Additive inverse: For $C \in K^{\delta}$, consider $C' = -C^u$. First, we show that C' belongs to K^{δ} and secondly, it is the inverse of C for operation \oplus . Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} k \in C'^u \Leftrightarrow \phi(d,k) > 1/2, \forall \ d \in C' \Leftrightarrow \phi(-k,-d) > 1/2, \forall -d \in C^u \\ \Leftrightarrow \phi(-k,g) > 1/2, \ \forall \ g \in C^u \Leftrightarrow -k \in C^{ul} = C. \end{split}$$

Take $m \in C'^{ul}$ then $\phi(m, k) > 1/2$ for each $k \in C'^{u}$. But $k \in C'^{u}$ iff k = -c for some $c \in C$. Therefore, $\phi(m, -c) > 1/2$ for all $c \in C$. Thus $-m \in C^{u}$ and eventually $m \in C'$. Hence, $C'^{ul} = C'$.

Next, consider $V = \{c + d : c \in C, d \in C'\}$, then

$$V = \{ c - k : c \in C, k \in C^u \}.$$

Hence, $\phi(c-k,0) > 1/2$ so $\psi(V,C_0) > 1/2$, therefore, $K^+ \subseteq V^u$. Let $s \in V^u$, then $\phi(r,0) > 1/2$ and $\phi(r,s) > 1/2$ for each $r \in V$. Also, $\phi(r,s \wedge 0) > 1/2$ i.e. $\phi(c-k,-s^-) > 1/2$ for each $c \in C$ and $k \in C^u$. It follows that $\phi(c+s^-,k) > 1/2$, then $c+s^- \in C^{ul} = C$. By induction, for fix $c \in C$ and $k \in C^u$, we have $\phi(ns^-,k-c) > 1/2$ for n = 1, 2... Since K is an Archimedean FOS, this is possible iff $s^- = 0$. Hence $V^u \subset K^+$, so $V^u = K^+$. Therefore,

$$C \oplus C' = C' \oplus C = C_0.$$

Moreover, the inverse is unique.

It is not hard to verify the distributional properties of operations \oplus and \circ and compatibility between algebraic and order structures in K^{δ} . Hence, $(K^{\delta}, \oplus, \circ, \psi)$ is an FRS.

Finally, the existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion is proved as follows.

Theorem 3.4.7. If (K, ϕ) is an Archimedean FRS then the FRS $(K^{\delta}, \oplus, \circ, \psi)$ is its fuzzy Dedekind completion.

Proof. The Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) has no smallest and largest element, thus by the Theorem 3.4.4 P(K) is fuzzy order isomorphic to K under the map $P: K \to K^{\delta}$ with the definition $P(k) = \{k\}^{ul}$. Now we show that P preserves the algebraic structure as well.

Indeed, for $\{w\}^{ul}, \{z\}^{ul} \in P(K), \{w\}^{ul} \oplus \{z\}^{ul} \subseteq \{w+z\}^{ul}$ is clear. Take $s \in \{w+z\}^{ul}$, then $\phi(s, w+z) > 1/2$. Let s = w + (s-w) with $w \in \{w\}^{ul}$ and $s - w \in \{z\}^{ul}$. Thus,

$$\{w+z\}^{ul} = \{w\}^{ul} \oplus \{z\}^{ul}$$

Therefore, $P(w + z) = P(w) \oplus P(z)$ for all $w, z \in K$. Also, it is not hard to prove that $P(\lambda w) = \lambda \circ P(w)$ for $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and $w \in K$. Hence, P is a fuzzy Riesz isomorphism between K and P(K).

Lastly, P(K) is also fuzzy order dense and majorizing Riesz subspace of K^{δ} due to the Theorem 3.1.9.

Proposition 3.1.8 implies that (K, ϕ) is a fuzzy regular Riesz subspace of (K^{δ}, ψ) . In the end, as an application of Theorem 3.4.7 some results are proved for a fuzzy regular Riesz subspaces of an FRS (K, ϕ) .

Theorem 3.4.8. If L is a fuzzy regular Riesz subspace of an Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) then L^{δ} is a fuzzy regular Riesz subspace of (K^{δ}, ψ) .

Proof. Suppose K is fuzzy regular in K^{δ} , we have L fuzzy regular in K^{δ} . Then without loss, assume that $K = K^{\delta}$. Let $V : L \to K$ be the inclusion map. Therefore, V is a fuzzy order continuous by the fuzzy regularity of L.

Theorem 3.2.4 yields that V can be extended to a fuzzy order continuous positive operator $P: L^{\delta} \to K$. It will be shown that P is a fuzzy Riesz isomorphism from L^{δ} into K.

Let $g \in L^{\delta}$. Take two nets (a_{λ}) and (b_{λ}) in L^+ such that $a_{\lambda} \uparrow g^+$ and $b_{\lambda} \uparrow g^-$ in L^{δ} . Then clearly

$$a_{\lambda} = Pa_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} Pg^+,$$

in K. Moreover, $a_{\lambda} - b_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fo} g$ in L^{δ} , so $a_{\lambda} - b_{\lambda} = P(a_{\lambda} - b_{\lambda}) \xrightarrow{fo} Pg$ in K.

Also, $g^+ \wedge g^- = 0$ that implies $a_\lambda \wedge b_\lambda = 0$ in L^{δ} for any $\lambda \in \Lambda$ and hence

$$a_{\lambda} = (a_{\lambda} - b_{\lambda})^+ = P(a_{\lambda} - b_{\lambda})^+ \xrightarrow{fo} (Pg)^+,$$

in K. Therefore, $(Pg)^+ = P(g^+)$ for any $g \in L^{\delta}$. By Theorem 5.1.5 P is a fuzzy Riesz homomorphism.

Now let Pg = 0 for some $g \in L^{\delta}$, we can assume without loss of generality that $g \in L^+$, because P is a fuzzy Riesz homomorphism. Take a net (a_{λ}) in L^+ with $a_{\lambda} \uparrow g$ in L^{δ} . Then $a_{\lambda} = P(a_{\lambda})$ and $\phi(Pa_{\lambda}, 0) > 1/2$ implies that $a_{\lambda} = 0$ for all λ , hence g = 0 and P is proved to be injective.

The fuzzy regularity of L^{δ} in K follows from the fuzzy order continuity of P.

Proposition 3.4.9. Let *L* be a fuzzy regular Dedekind complete Riesz subspace of an Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) . Take a net (g_{λ}) in *L* and $k \in K$. If $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} k$ in *K* then $k \in L$ and $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} k$ in *L*.

Proof. Without loss, assume that $K = K^{\delta}$. By Remark 3.1.5 $k = \limsup_{\lambda}(g_{\lambda}) = \liminf_{\lambda}(g_{\lambda})$, as L is a fuzzy Dedekind complete, so the $\limsup_{\lambda}(g_{\lambda})$ and $\liminf_{\lambda}(g_{\lambda})$ exist in L. Also, it is fuzzy regular therefore, the limits are same as in K. Hence k also belongs to L and $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} k$ in L.

A fuzzy order dense Riesz subspace L of an FRS (K, ϕ) is fuzzy dense with respect to the fuzzy order convergence, but the backward implication is not valid in general. The next result yields the equivalence between fuzzy order denseness and fuzzy denseness concerning to fuzzy order convergence. **Theorem 3.4.10.** If a fuzzy regular Riesz subspace L is dense with respect to the fuzzy order convergence in an Archimedean FRS (K, ϕ) then L is fuzzy order dense in FRS (K, ϕ) . In addition, If L is a fuzzy Dedekind complete then L is a fuzzy ideal of an FRS (K, ϕ) .

Proof. By Theorem 3.4.8, L^{δ} is a fuzzy regular Riesz subspace of K^{δ} . First we show that L^{δ} is a fuzzy ideal of K^{δ} .

Take $u \in (K^{\delta})^+$ and $v \in (L^{\delta})^+$ such that $\psi(u, v) > 1/2$. Then $K \cap \sup([0, u]) = u$ in K^{δ} by Theorem 3.1.9. For $k \in [0, u] \cap K$ there is a net (g_{λ}) in L with $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} k$ due to the fact that L is dense with respect to the fuzzy order convergence. Let $w_{\lambda} = g_{\lambda} \wedge v$ for $\lambda \in \Lambda$. Then (w_{λ}) is a net in L^{δ} and $w_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} k$ in K^{δ} as well. Therefore, by the Proposition 5.1.3 k belongs to L^{δ} .

Thus $\sup ([0, u] \cap L^{\delta}) = u$ in K^{δ} but L^{δ} is fuzzy regular so the supremum is same in L^{δ} . Hence, $u \in L^{\delta}$ and this proves that L^{δ} is indeed a fuzzy ideal of K^{δ} .

Now, take $0 \neq k \in K^+$ as L is dense with respect to the fuzzy order convergence in K, so there exists a net (g_{λ}) in L such that $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_o} k$ in K. Then $|g_{\lambda}| \wedge k \xrightarrow{f_o} k$ in K too.

Put $w = |g_{\lambda_0}| \wedge k$ for some $\lambda_0 \in \Lambda$. Then $\phi(w, |g_{\lambda_0}|) > 1/2$, as L^{δ} is fuzzy ideal and g_{λ_0} is in L, therefore w is in $(L^{\delta})^+$. Furthermore, L is fuzzy order dense in L^{δ} so there is some uin L^+ with $\phi(u, w) > 1/2$. Hence, by transitivity $\phi(u, k) > 1/2$ and this leads to fuzzy order denseness of L in K.

Lastly, if L is a fuzzy Dedekind complete in its own right then $L = L^{\delta}$ and hence it is a fuzzy ideal of K.

Chapter 4

Fuzzy order bounded linear operators in fuzzy Riesz spaces

In this chapter, we study the space of all fuzzy order bounded positive linear operators $L_b(K, H)$. In order to investigate $L_b(K, H)$ we start our work in the set of all linear operators L(K, H) between (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) . Of course, L(K, H) is a vector space with pointwise operations. But the natural pointwise ordering i.e. $P \leq V$ if $\mu(P(k), V(k)) > 1/2$ for each $k \in K$, does not induce lattice structure on L(K, H). Thus, to define proper fuzzy lattice operations on $L_b(K, H)$ first, we work on the modulus of a fuzzy positive linear operator.

Definition 4.0.1. A fuzzy positive operator P between two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) possesses a modulus if $|P| = P \lor (-P)$. The modulus of P means the supremum of the set $\{-P, P\}$ in L(K, H).

The next proposition gives the existence of a modulus of a fuzzy positive operator.

Proposition 4.0.2. If P is a fuzzy positive operator between two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) such that $\sup\{|Pg|: \phi(|g|, k) > 1/2\}$ exists in H for all $k \in K^+$ then modulus of P exists and

$$|P|(k) = \sup\{|Pg| : \phi(|g|, k) > 1/2\}.$$

Proof. Suppose $V: K^+ \to H^+$ is defined by $V(k) = \sup\{|Pg|: \phi(|g|, k) > 1/2\}$ for $k \in K^+$. Since $\phi(|g|, k) > 1/2$ implies $|\pm g| = |g|, \ \phi(|\pm g|, k) > 1/2$. Now we show that V is additive. Let $h, l \in K^+$. If $\phi(|g|, h) > 1/2$ and $\phi(|r|, l) > 1/2$ then

$$\phi(|g+r|, |g|+|r|) > 1/2$$
 and $\phi(|g|+|r|, h+l) > 1/2$.

Thus,

$$P(g) + P(r) = P(g+r)$$
 and $\mu(P(g+r), V(h+l)) > 1/2$.

Therefore, $\mu(V(h) + V(l), V(h + l)) > 1/2$. Conversely, if $\phi(|g|, h + l) > 1/2$, then by [10, Theorem 4.12] there exist g_1 and g_2 with $\phi(|g_1|, h) > 1/2$, $\phi(|g_2|, l) > 1/2$ and $g = g_1 + g_2$. Therefore,

$$P(g) = P(g_1) + P(g_2)$$
 and $\mu(P(g_1) + P(g_2), V(h) + V(l)) > 1/2$,

so $\mu(V(h+l), V(h) + V(l)) > 1/2$. Hence, V is additive. By [13, Lemma 2.4] V from K to H extends uniquely to a fuzzy positive operator.

It is left to show that V is a supremum of $\{-P, P\}$. Observe that $P \leq V$ and $-P \leq V$. Assume that $\pm P \leq R$. Thus, R is a fuzzy positive operator. Fix $k \in K^+$. If $\phi(|g|, k) > 1/2$ then

$$Pg = Pg^{+} - Pg^{-}$$
 and $\mu(Pg^{+} - Pg^{-}, Rg^{+} + Rg^{-}) > 1/2.$

Therefore,

$$Rg^+ + Rg^- = R|g|$$
 and $\mu(R|g|, Rk) > 1/2$.

Then, $\mu(V(k), R(k)) > 1/2$ for $k \in K^+$. Hence $V = P \vee (-P)$ in L(K, H).

Remark 4.0.3. Now we know that $\sup\{|Pg| : \phi(|g|, k) > 1/2\}$ exists when H is a fuzzy Dedekind complete. Thus, with the help of Proposition 4.0.2 we define the fuzzy lattice operations in $L_b(K, H)$ for fuzzy Dedekind complete (H, μ) . **Theorem 4.0.4.** If (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) are FRSs with H fuzzy Dedekind complete then the fuzzy order vector space $L_b(K, H)$ is a Dedekind complete FRS with the following fuzzy lattice operations,

$$\begin{split} |P|(h) &= \sup\{|Pg|: \phi(|g|,h) > 1/2\},\\ [V \lor P](h) &= \sup\{V(g) + P(k): g, k \in K^+ \text{ and } g + k = h\},\\ [V \land P](h) &= \inf\{V(g) + P(k): g, k \in K^+ \text{ and } g + k = h\} \end{split}$$

for each $V, P \in L_b(K, H)$ and $k \in K^+$. In addition, $P_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ in $L_b(K, H)$ iff $P_{\lambda}(h) \downarrow 0$ in Hfor all $h \in K^+$.

Proof. Since P is fuzzy order bounded,

$$\sup\{|Pg|: \phi(|g|,h) > 1/2\} = \sup\{Pg: \phi(|g|,h) > 1/2\} = \sup P[-h,h]$$

exists in H for $h \in K^+$. By Proposition 4.0.2 the modulus of P exists and also

$$|P|(h) = \sup\{Pg : \phi(|g|, h) > 1/2\}.$$

Now we show that $L_b(K, H)$ is an FRS. Let $V, P \in L_b(K, H)$ and $h \in K^+$ satisfying g + k = h iff there exits some $l \in K$ such that $\phi(|l|, h) > 1/2$ with g = 1/2(h + l) and k = 1/2(h - l) for $g, k \in K^+$. It follows from [10, Theorem 4.11] that

$$\begin{split} [V \lor P](h) &= 1/2[V(h) + P(h) + |V - P|(h)] \\ &= 1/2[V(h) + P(h) + \sup\{(V - P)(l) : \phi(|l|, h) > 1/2\}] \\ &= 1/2 \sup\{V(h) + V(l) + P(h) - P(l) : \phi(|l|, h) > 1/2\} \\ &= \sup\{V(1/2(h + l)) + P(1/2(h - l)) : \phi(|l|, h) > 1/2\} \\ &= \sup\{V(g) + P(k) : g, k \in K^+ \text{ and } g + k = h\}. \end{split}$$

 $[V \wedge P]$ can be proven analogously.

Now we have to show that $L_b(K, H)$ is fuzzy Dedekind complete. Let $P_{\lambda} \uparrow P$ in $L_b(K, H)$. Assume that $V(h) = \sup\{P_{\lambda}(h)\}$ implies that $P_{\lambda}(h) \uparrow V(h)$ for each $h \in K^+$. As $P_{\lambda}(h+g) = P_{\lambda}(h) + P_{\lambda}(g)$, it follows that $V: K^+ \to H^+$ is additive. Then V from K to H defines a fuzzy positive operator. Clearly, $P_{\lambda} \uparrow V$ in $L_b(K, H)$.

Remark 4.0.5. Theorem 4.0.4 yields that if (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) are FRSs with H fuzzy Dedekind complete then every fuzzy order bounded operator $P: K \to H$ satisfies

 $P^+(k) = \sup\{Pg : \phi(g,k) > 1/2\}$

$$P^{-}(k) = \sup\{-Pg : \phi(g,k) > 1/2\}$$

for each $k \in K^+$ and we have $P = P^+ - P^-$. To derive some formulas for fuzzy positive operators, we first prove the approximation properties of fuzzy positive operators, which are discussed as follows.

Lemma 4.0.6. If P is a fuzzy positive operator between two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) with H σ -fuzzy Dedekind complete then there exists a fuzzy positive operator $V : K \to H$ for each $k \in K^+$ such that:

- (i) $V \leq P$;
- (*ii*) V(k) = P(k);
- (iii) V(g) = 0 for each $g \perp k$.

Proof. The proof is basically the same as for the Proposition 4.0.2 with the use of [13, Lemma 2.4]. \Box

The next result is proved by using Lemma 4.0.6.

Theorem 4.0.7. If P is a fuzzy positive operator between two FRSs (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) with H σ -fuzzy Dedekind complete then for each $k \in K$ we have:

(i) $P(k^+) = \max\{V(k) : V \in L(K, H) \text{ and } V \le P\};$

(*ii*)
$$P(k^{-}) = \max\{-V(k) : V \in L(K, H) \text{ and } V \le P\};$$

(*iii*)
$$P(|k|) = \max\{V(k) : V \in L(K, H) \text{ and } -P \le V \le P\}.$$

Proof. (i) Fix $k \in K$. By Lemma 4.0.6 there exists a fuzzy positive operator $V : K \to H$ such that $V \leq P$, $V(k^+) = P(k^+)$ and $V(k^-) = 0$. If $R \in L(K, H)$ with $R \leq P$ then

$$\mu(R(k), R(k^+)) > 1/2$$
 and $\mu(R(k^+), P(k^+)) > 1/2$.

- (ii) The proof of this part can be obtained from (i) by using identity $k^{-} = (-k)^{+}$.
- (iii) Suppose that operator $R: K \to H$ satisfies $-P \le R \le P$, then $R(k) = R(k^+) R(k^-)$ such that

$$\mu(R(k^+) - R(k^-), P(k^+) + P(k^-)) > 1/2 \text{ and } P(k^+) + P(k^-) = P(|k|).$$

Hence R(k) = P(|k|).

On the other hand, by Lemma 4.0.6 there exist two fuzzy positive operators V_1, V_2 : $K \to H$ such that

$$V_1(k^+) = P(k^+)$$
 and $V_1(k^-) = 0$.

And

$$V_2(k^-) = P(k^-) \text{ and } V_2(k^+) = 0.$$

Therefore, $R = V_1 - V_2$ satisfies $-P \le R \le P$ and R(k) = P(|k|).

Remark 4.0.8. The set of all fuzzy order continuous operator of $L_b(K, H)$ are denoted by

 $L_n(K, H)$ i.e.

$$L_n(K, H) = \{P \in L_b(K, H) : P \text{ is fuzzy order continuous}\}.$$

Analogously, $L_c(K, H)$ denotes the set of all σ -fuzzy order continuous operator i.e.

 $L_c(K,H) = \{ P \in L_b(K,H) : P \text{ is } \sigma - fuzzy \text{ order continuous} \}.$

Both $L_c(K, H)$ and $L_n(K, H)$ are vector subspaces of $L_b(K, H)$. Furthermore, $L_n(K, H) \subseteq L_c(K, H)$. The following proposition shows $L_n(K, H)$ and $L_c(K, H)$ are fuzzy bands of $L_b(K, H)$.

Proposition 4.0.9. If (K, ϕ) and (H, μ) are FRSs with H fuzzy Dedekind complete then both $L_n(K, H)$ and $L_c(K, H)$ are fuzzy bands of $L_b(K, H)$.

Proof. If $|V| \leq |P|$ in $L_b(K, H)$ with $P \in L_b(K, H)$ then by Theorem 3.2.3 $V \in L_b(K, H)$. Thus, $L_n(K, H)$ are fuzzy ideal of $L_b(K, H)$.

Now we show that $L_n(K, H)$ is a fuzzy band. Let $(P_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \Gamma} \in L_n(K, H)$ and $P_{\gamma} \uparrow P$ in $L_b(K, H)$. Let $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ in K^+ . For fixed γ , we have

$$\mu(P(k - k_{\lambda}), (P - P_{\gamma})(k) + P_{\gamma}(k - k_{\lambda})) > 1/2,$$

and $k - k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$. As $P_{\gamma} \in L_n(K, H)$ implies that

$$\mu(\inf(P(k-k_{\lambda})), (P-P_{\gamma})(k)) > 1/2$$

for each γ . Thus, $(P - P_{\gamma}) \downarrow 0$. Therefore, $\inf(P(k - k_{\lambda}) = 0$ and so $P(k_{\lambda}) \uparrow P(k)$. Hence $P \in L_n(K, H)$.

 $L_c(K, H)$ can be proved analogously.

4.1 Fuzzy order dual

A fuzzy positive linear functional u between an FRS (K, ϕ) and \mathbb{R} is a linear map $u : K \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $u(k) \in \mathbb{R}^+$ for all $k \in K^+$. $K^{\sim} = L_b(K, \mathbb{R})$, the fuzzy order dual of K is a vector space of all fuzzy order bounded linear functionals on K. Also $(K^{\sim})^+$ is the set of all fuzzy order bounded positive linear functionals. By Theorem 4.0.4, K^{\sim} is a fuzzy Dedekind complete Riesz space. Also, according to Theorem 4.0.4, the following fuzzy lattice operations hold for K^{\sim} .

Proposition 4.1.1. If K^{\sim} is a fuzzy order dual of an FRS (K, ϕ) then $u, v \in K^{\sim}$ and $h \in K^+$ the following statements are true:

- (i) $u^+(h) = \sup\{u(g) : g \in K^+ \text{ and } \phi(g,h) > 1/2\};$
- (ii) $u^{-}(h) = \sup\{-u(g) : g \in K^{+} \text{ and } \phi(g,h) > 1/2\};$
- (iii) $|u|(h) = \sup\{|u(g)| : \phi(|g|, h) > 1/2\};$
- (*iv*) $[u \lor v](h) = \sup\{u(g) + v(k) : g, k \in K^+ \text{ and } g + k = h\};$
- $(v) \ [u \wedge v](h) = \inf\{u(g) + v(k) : g, k \in K^+ \ and \ g + k = h\}.$

Now we discussed the FRSs whose fuzzy order dual separates the points of the spaces.

Definition 4.1.2. The fuzzy order dual K^{\sim} of an FRS (K, ϕ) separates the points of K if for all $0 \neq k \in K^+$ there exists $0 \neq u \in (K^{\sim})^+$ with $u(k) \neq 0$.

Proposition 4.1.3. If K^{\sim} separates the points of an FRS (K, ϕ) then $k \in K^+$ iff $u(k) \ge 0$ holds for all $u \in (K^{\sim})^+$.

Proof. The forward implication is obvious.

Conversely, let $k \in K$ satisfies $u(k) \ge 0$ for each $u \in (K^{\sim})^+$. If $u \in (K^{\sim})^+$ is fixed then Theorem 4.0.7 yields that there exists some $v \in (K^{\sim})^+$ such that $u(k^-) = -v(k)$. As $v(k) \ge 0$ implies that $-v(k) \le 0$. Thus $u(k^-) = 0$. Therefore, K^{\sim} separates the points of K, we have $k^- = 0$. Hence $k = k^+ - k^- = k^+$ i.e. $\phi(0, k^+) > 1/2$. **Remark 4.1.4.** In addition to fuzzy order dual of an FRS, one can assume the fuzzy bands of fuzzy order (σ -fuzzy order) continuous linear functionals. Let $L_n(K, \mathbb{R})$ be the set of all fuzzy order continuous linear functionals denoted by K_n^{\sim} i.e. $K_n^{\sim} := L_n(K, \mathbb{R})$. Analogously, σ -fuzzy order continuous linear functionals is denoted by $K_c^{\sim} := L_c(K, \mathbb{R})$. Where K_n^{\sim} and K_c^{\sim} are called fuzzy order continuous dual and σ -fuzzy order continuous dual of K, respectively. By Proposition 4.0.9 both K_n^{\sim} and K_c^{\sim} are fuzzy bands of K^{\sim} .

Definition 4.1.5. If $u \in K^{\sim}$ then:

- (i) the null fuzzy ideal of u denoted N_u and defined as $N_u := \{k \in K : |u|(|k|) = 0\};$
- (ii) the disjoint complement of null fuzzy ideal denoted $C_u = N_u^d$ is said to be fuzzy carrier of u and is defined as $C_u := \{k \in K : k \perp N_u\}$. Note that a fuzzy carrier is indeed a fuzzy band.

One can easily prove that the null fuzzy ideal is a fuzzy band if fuzzy order bounded linear functional is fuzzy order continuous. The following proposition shows that the two fuzzy linear functionals are disjoint iff their fuzzy carriers are disjoint.

Proposition 4.1.6. If (K, ϕ) is an Archimedean FRS then $u, v \in K_n^{\sim}$ then following statements are equivalent:

- (i) $u \perp v$;
- (ii) $C_u \subseteq N_v$
- (iii) $C_v \subseteq N_u$
- (iv) $C_u \perp C_v$.

Proof. Without loss, assume that positive $u, v \in K_n^{\sim}$.

 $(i) \to (ii)$ Let positive $c \in C_u = N_u^d$ and $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$. Since $u \wedge v = 0$, there exists a sequence (k_n) in K^+ satisfying $k_n \uparrow k$ and $u(k_n) + v(k - k_n) < \epsilon$ for each n.

Take $g_n = \bigwedge_{i=1}^n k_i$ and $g_n \downarrow 0$ in K^+ . Indeed, if $\phi(g, g_n) > 1/2$ then $\mu(u(g), u(g_n)) > 1/2$ and $u(g_n) < \epsilon$ implies u(g) = 0. Therefore, $g \in C_n \cap N_u = \{0\}$ implies g = 0.

Since $v \in (K_n^{\sim})^+$, we have $v(k - g_n) \uparrow v(k)$. But

$$v(k-g_n) = v(\bigvee_{i=1}^n (k-k_i)),$$

$$\mu(v(\bigvee_{i=1}^{n}(k-k_{i})),\sum_{i=1}^{n}v(k-k_{i})) > 1/2 \ and \ \sum_{i=1}^{n}v(k-k_{i}) < \epsilon.$$

Consequently, positive $v(k) \leq \epsilon$ for each $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$. Therefore, v(k) = 0 and hence $C_u \subseteq N_v$.

 $(ii) \rightarrow (iii)$ Since N_u is a fuzzy band, so $C_u = N_u^d$. By [26, Theorem 5.8] $C_v = N_v^d \subseteq N_v^{dd} = N_v$.

- $(iii) \rightarrow (iv) \ C_v \subseteq N_u \text{ and } N_u \perp C_u$, we have $C_v \subseteq N_u \perp C_u$ implies $C_v \perp C_u$.
- $(iv) \rightarrow (i)$ Suppose $C_v \perp C_u$. If $k = g + h \in N_v \oplus C_v$ then

$$[u \wedge v](k) = [u \wedge v](g) + [u \wedge v](h),$$

$$\mu([u \wedge v](g) + [u \wedge v](h), v(g) + u(h)) > 1/2 \text{ and } v(g) + u(h) = 0.$$

Therefore, by [26, Theorem 4.7(ii)] $u \wedge v = 0$ holds for fuzzy order dense ideal $N_v \oplus C_v$. Hence, $u \perp v$.

Chapter 5

Unbounded fuzzy order convergence

Here we study the generalization of fuzzy order convergence in fuzzy Riesz spaces known as unbounded fuzzy order convergence. With the help of a fuzzy weak order unit, the unbounded fuzzy order convergence is nicely characterized in FRSs. Also, we discuss the fuzzy order closeness with respect to this convergence. Furthermore, in σ -fuzzy Dedekind complete FRS, the disjoint sequences are fuzzy order convergent to zero.

Definition 5.0.1. A net $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ in an FRS (K, ϕ) is said to be unbounded fuzzy order convergent (ufo-convergent for short) to $k \in K$ denoted $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k$ if $|k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ for each $g \in K^+$.

Note that fo-convergence implies ufo-convergence. The ufo-convergence has many nice characterizing conditions.

Proposition 5.0.2. Let $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ and $(g_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ be nets in an FRS (K, ϕ) . Then the following statements are true:

(i) $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k \text{ iff } (k_{\lambda} - k) \xrightarrow{ufo} 0;$ (ii) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k \text{ and } g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{ufo} g \text{ then } ak_{\lambda} + bg_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{ufo} ak + bg \text{ for each } a, b \in \mathbb{R};$ (iii) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k \text{ and } k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} g \text{ then } k = g;$ (iv) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k$ then (a) $(k_{\lambda})^+ \xrightarrow{ufo} k^+;$ (b) $(k_{\lambda})^- \xrightarrow{ufo} k^-.$

Furthermore, (a) and (b) imply that

$$|k_{\lambda}| \xrightarrow{ufo} |k|.$$

- (v) If a positive net $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k$ and $\phi(k_{\lambda}, g_{\gamma}) > 1/2$, $g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{ufo} g$ then $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$.
- *Proof.* (i) Suppose $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k$. Then $|(k_{\lambda} k) 0| \wedge g = |k_{\lambda} k| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ for each $g \in K^+$, hence $(k_{\lambda} k) \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. The converse can be proved analogously.

(ii) Suppose $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k$ and $g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{ufo} g$, we have

$$\phi(|(k_{\lambda}+g_{\gamma})-(k+g)|\wedge h, (|k_{\lambda}-k|+|g_{\gamma}-g|)\wedge h)>1/2,$$

and

$$\phi((|k_{\lambda}-k|+|g_{\gamma}-g|) \wedge h, |k_{\lambda}-k| \wedge h+|g_{\gamma}-g| \wedge h) > 1/2$$

for each λ , γ and $h \in K^+$. it follows that $k_{\lambda} + g_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{fo} k + g$. Fix $a \in \mathbb{R}$ and let $h \in K^+$. Check that $|ak_{\lambda} - ak| \wedge h = |a||k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge h$. If $|a| \leq 1$, then $\phi(|a||k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge h, |k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge h) > 1/2$ and $|k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge h \xrightarrow{fo} 0$. If |a| > 1 then $|h| \leq |a|h$ and $\phi(|a||k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge h, |a||k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge |a|h) > 1/2$ and $|a|(|k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge h) \xrightarrow{fo} 0$. In each case $ak_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} ak$.

(iii) Let $\phi(|k - g|, |k - k_{\lambda}| + |g - k_{\lambda}|) > 1/2$ for each λ . Let h = |k - g|. Observe that $|k - g| = |k - g| \wedge h$. Also

$$\phi(|k-g| \wedge h, |k-k_{\lambda}| \wedge h + |g-k_{\lambda}| \wedge h) > 1/2.$$

Hence, k = g.

- (iv) Suppose $|k_{\lambda}-k| \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. As $\phi(|(k_{\lambda})^{+}-k^{+}|, |k_{\lambda}-k|) > 1/2$ for each λ . So $|(k_{\lambda})^{+}-k^{+}| \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. 0. Hence, $(k_{\lambda})^{+} \xrightarrow{ufo} k^{+}$. Thus $-k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} -k$ this gives that $(k_{\lambda})^{-} \xrightarrow{ufo} k^{-}$. The final statement follows from $\phi(||k_{\lambda}|-|k||, |k_{\lambda}-k|) > 1/2$.
- (v) By (iv) $k_{\lambda} = |k_{\lambda}| \xrightarrow{ufo} |k|$. Since k = |k| by uniqueness of fuzzy order limit. As $\phi(0, g_{\gamma} k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$, then $g_{\gamma} k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} g k$, we have $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$.

Remark 5.0.3. Let (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS and $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ be a fuzzy order bounded net in K. Then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} k$ iff $k = \limsup_{\lambda} (k_{\lambda}) = \liminf_{\lambda} (k_{\lambda})$. Moreover, two sequences (k_{n}) and (k_{m}) are called disjoint if $|k_{n}| \wedge |k_{m}| = 0$ or $(k_{n} \perp k_{m})$ holds for $m \neq n$. The ufo-convergence for disjoints sequences in σ -Dedekind complete FRS are discussed in the following proposition.

Proposition 5.0.4.

- (i) Suppose $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a disjoint sequence in σ -Dedekind complete FRS (K, ϕ) . Then $k_n \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ in K.
- (ii) Suppose $(k_n)_{n \in N}$ is a sequence in an FRS (K, ϕ) . If $k_n \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ then $\inf_m(k_{n_m}) = 0$ for each increasing sequence (n_m) of natural numbers.

Proof.

(i) Fix $k \in K^+$. We will show that $\limsup_n(|k_n| \wedge k) = 0$. Indeed, let $g \in K^+$ such that $\phi(g, \sup_n(|k_n| \wedge k)) > 1/2$. Therefore,

$$\phi(g \wedge |k_n|, (\sup_{n+1} |k_{n+1}| \wedge k) \wedge |k_n|) > 1/2 \text{ and } \sup_{n+1} (|k_{n+1}| \wedge |k_n| \wedge k) = 0.$$

Thus, $g \wedge |k_n| = 0$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$. It follows that

$$g = g \wedge \sup_{n \ge 1} (k \wedge |k_n|) = \sup_{n \ge 1} (g \wedge k \wedge |k_n|) = 0.$$

Hence, $|k_n| \wedge k \xrightarrow{fo} 0$.

(ii) Suppose $k_n \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. Take (n_m) as an increasing sequence of \mathbb{N} . Clearly, $k_{n_m} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. Let $\phi(k, k_{n_m}) > 1/2$ for each $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k \in K^+$. Therefore, $k = k_{n_m} \wedge k \xrightarrow{fo} 0$, implies that k = 0. Hence, $\inf_m(k_{n_m}) = 0$.

5.1 Fuzzy weak order unit

Our next goal is to reduce the task of checking ufo-convergence at every positive vector to a single special vector known as a fuzzy weak order unit that allows us to characterize ufoconvergence nicely. For $k \in K$ the fuzzy band generated by k is known as *principal fuzzy* band and defined as $B_k = \{g \in K : |g| \land n|k| \uparrow |g|\}$ by Corollary [26, 5.4]. The fuzzy band generated by a non-zero positive element is discussed as follows.

Definition 5.1.1. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS and $0 \neq w \in K^+$ is called fuzzy weak order unit if w generates fuzzy band satisfying either $k \wedge nw \uparrow k : n \in \mathbb{N}$ for each $k \in K^+$ or $B_w = K$.

Proposition 5.1.2. Let (K, ϕ) be an Archimedean FRS. $0 \neq w \in K^+$ is a fuzzy weak order unit iff $k \perp w$ implies k = 0 for each $k \in K^+$.

Proof. It follows from the definition of fuzzy weak order unit, [26, Theorems 4.7 and 5.8]. \Box

Now we use the Proposition 5.1.2 to prove the underlying result.

Proposition 5.1.3. Let (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS with a fuzzy weak order unit w. Then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ iff $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge w \xrightarrow{fo} 0$.

Proof. Suppose $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. Take any $g \in K^+$. As K is fuzzy Dedekind complete, then

$$(\limsup_{\lambda} (|k_{\lambda}| \wedge g)) \wedge w = (\limsup_{\lambda} (|k_{\lambda}| \wedge w)) \wedge g = 0 \wedge g = 0.$$

Thus, w being a fuzzy weak order unit implies that $\limsup_{\lambda} (|k_{\lambda}| \wedge g) = 0$. Hence, $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge g \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$. The converse follows from the Definition 5.0.1.

Now we defined and studied the properties of the fuzzy component in which ufo-convergence is nicely characterized.

Definition 5.1.4. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS. A vector $k \in K^+$ is said to be fuzzy component of w whenever $k \wedge (w - k) = 0$ for $w \in K^+$.

Remark 5.1.5. For $k \in K$, w_k denotes the fuzzy component of w in the fuzzy band generated by k. So for each $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, $w_{(k-\alpha w)^+}$ is the fuzzy component of w in the fuzzy band generated by $(k - \alpha w)^+$ and we set $e(\alpha) = w_{(k-\alpha w)^+}$. In a Dedekind complete FRS (K, ϕ) with $k \in K^+$ and let $e = w_{k^+}$ then $k_e = k^+$.

Now, many lemmas are proved to characterize the ufo-convergence with the help of fuzzy components.

Lemma 5.1.6. If (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS for $k \in K^+$ then

$$\phi(e(\alpha), \frac{1}{\alpha}k) > 1/2$$

for $\alpha > 0$.

Proof. Remark 5.1.5 yields that $(k - \alpha w)_{e(\alpha)} = (k - \alpha w)^+$ and $\phi(0, (k - \alpha w)^+) > 1/2$. Therefore, $(k - \alpha w)_{e(\alpha)} = k_{e(\alpha)} - \alpha w_{e(\alpha)}$ and $\phi(0, k - \alpha e(\alpha)) > 1/2$ implies $\phi(e(\alpha), \frac{1}{\alpha}k) > 1/2$.

Lemma 5.1.7. Let (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS and (k_{λ}) a net in K^+ . Then $\wedge_{\lambda} w_{k_{\lambda}} = 0$ implies $\wedge_{\lambda} k_{\lambda} = 0$. But converse is not true.

Proof. For each λ , $\phi(k_{\lambda} \wedge w, w_{k_{\lambda}}) > 1/2$, so $(\wedge_{\lambda}k_{\lambda}) \wedge w = \wedge_{\lambda}(k_{\lambda} \wedge w)$ and $\phi(\wedge_{\lambda}(k_{\lambda} \wedge w), \wedge_{\lambda}w_{k_{\lambda}}) > 1/2$. Thus $(\wedge_{\lambda}k_{\lambda}) \wedge w = 0$. Hence $\wedge_{\lambda}k_{\lambda} = 0$. To see that the converse is false, take a set $k_n = \frac{1}{n}w$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

Lemma 5.1.8. Let (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS and (k_{λ}) a net in K^+ . Then $\wedge_{\lambda} w_{(k_{\lambda} - \alpha w)^+} = 0$ for each $\alpha > 0$ iff $\wedge_{\lambda} k_{\lambda} = 0$.

Proof. For the forward implication we show that $\phi(\wedge_{\lambda}k_{\lambda}, \alpha w) > 1/2$ for each $\alpha > 0$. Fix α . By Lemma 5.1.7 $\wedge_{\lambda}(k_{\lambda} - \alpha w)^{+} = 0$. So $\phi(\wedge_{\lambda}(k_{\lambda} - \alpha w), 0) > 1/2$ that implies $\phi(\wedge_{\lambda}k_{\lambda}, \alpha w) > 1/2$.

The converse follows from the Lemma 5.1.6.

Lemma 5.1.9. Let (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS and (k_{λ}) a net in K^+ . Then $w_{k_{\lambda}} \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ implies $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. The converse is not true.

Proof. The proof is essentially the same as for Lemma 5.1.7, using Lemma 5.1.3.

Now the characterization of ufo-convergence is established in the next theorem.

Theorem 5.1.10. Suppose (K, ϕ) is a Dedekind complete FRS and (k_{λ}) a net in K^+ . Then $w_{(k_{\lambda}-\alpha w)} \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ for each $\alpha > 0$ iff $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$.

Proof. For the forward implication, suppose the net (k_{λ}) is fuzzy order bounded. We show that

$$\phi(\limsup_{\lambda} k_{\lambda}, \alpha w) > 1/2 \ \forall \ \alpha > 0.$$

Fix α . By Lemma 5.1.9 $(k_{\lambda} - \alpha w)^+ \xrightarrow{fo} 0$. In particular, $\limsup_{\lambda} (k_{\lambda} - \alpha w)^+ = 0$, thus $\phi(\limsup_{\lambda} (k_{\lambda} - \alpha w), 0) > 1/2$ such that $\phi(\limsup_{\lambda} k_{\lambda}, \alpha w) > 1/2$.

Now drop the supposition that (k_{λ}) is fuzzy order bounded. For every $\alpha > 0$,

$$\phi(w_{(k_{\lambda} \wedge w - \alpha w)^+}, w_{(k_{\lambda} - \alpha w)^+}) > 1/2 \text{ and } w_{(k_{\lambda} - \alpha w)^+} \xrightarrow{fo} 0.$$

Since $k_{\lambda} \wedge w$ is fuzzy order bounded, then $k_{\lambda} \wedge w \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$.

The backward implication is followed by the Lemma 5.1.6.

5.1.1 Fuzzy ideals and completeness with respect to ufo-convergence

The fuzzy ideal is a useful structure with important properties that can help to study ufoconvergence. To work in the fuzzy ideal is much easier than to work in the whole space. Indeed it is shown that ufo-convergence in the fuzzy ideal is equivalent to ufo-convergence in the entire space.

Remark 5.1.11. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS, I a fuzzy ideal of K and $(k_{\lambda}) \subset I$. If $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} 0$ in I, then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} 0$ in K. Conversely, If (k_{λ}) is fuzzy order bounded in I and $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} 0$ in K, then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_{0}} 0$ in I.

Proposition 5.1.12. Let (K, ϕ) be a Dedekind complete FRS and (k_{λ}) a net in fuzzy ideal I of K. Then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ in I iff $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ in K.

Proof. Suppose $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ in K. Then for any $g \in I^+$ such that $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in K, Remark 5.1.11 yields $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in I. Hence $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ in I. Conversely, take any $g \in I^+$, then $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in I, again by Remark 5.1.11 $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in K. It follows that, for any $g \in I^+$ and positive $h \in I^d$ such that $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge (g+h) \xrightarrow{fo} 0 = |k_{\lambda}| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in K.

For any $u \in K^+$ and $z \in (I \oplus I^d)^+$, we have $u \wedge z \in (I \oplus I^d)^+$. Therefore, by Remark 5.1.11 $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge (u+z) \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$ in K, or equivalently,

$$\limsup_{\lambda} (|k_{\lambda}| \wedge u) \wedge z = \limsup_{\lambda} (|k_{\lambda}| \wedge (u \wedge z)) = 0.$$

[26, Theorem 4.7 (i)] yields that $(I \oplus I^d)^d = \{0\}$. Thus,

$$\limsup_{\lambda} (|k_{\lambda}| \wedge u) = 0.$$

Hence, $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge u \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ in K.

The closeness of ufo-convergence is defined and discussed as follows.

Definition 5.1.13. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS. For $C \subset K$ is said to be unbounded fuzzy order closed (ufo-closed for short), if for any net $(k_{\lambda}) \subset C$ and $k \in K$ with $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k$ in K implies $k \in C$.

Proposition 5.1.14. Let L be a fuzzy Riesz subspace of FRS (K, ϕ) . Then L is ufo-closed in K iff L is fo-closed in K.

Proof. The forward implication is straightforward.

Conversely, suppose L is fo-closed in K. Let $(g_{\lambda}) \subseteq L$ and $k \in K$ such that $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} k$ in K. By Lemma 5.0.2(iv) $|g_{\lambda}| \xrightarrow{ufo} |k|$ in K. Therefore, without loss generality, consider $(g_{\lambda}) \subseteq L^+$ and $k \in K^+$. Observe that for each $w \in K^+$, then

$$\phi(|g_{\lambda} \wedge w - \mathbf{k} \wedge w|, |g_{\lambda} - k| \wedge \mathbf{w}) > 1/2 \text{ and } |g_{\lambda} - k| \wedge \mathbf{w} \xrightarrow{fo} 0 \text{ in } K.$$
(5.1.1)

Consequently, for any $g \in L^+$, $g_{\lambda} \wedge g \xrightarrow{f_o} k \wedge g$ in K. As L is fo-closed, then $k \wedge g \in L$. On the other hand, for any $w \in (L^d)^+$, then $g_{\lambda} \wedge w = 0$ for each λ , so that by ((i)) $k \wedge w = 0$. Thus, $k \in L^{dd}$, which is fuzzy band generated by L in K.

It follows that there is a net (w_{γ}) in the fuzzy ideal generated by L^+ such that $w_{\gamma} \uparrow k$ in K. Moreover, for each γ there exists $z_{\gamma} \in L$ such that $\phi(w_{\gamma}, z_{\gamma}) > 1/2$. So

$$\phi(w_{\gamma} \wedge k, z_{\gamma} \wedge k) > 1/2 \text{ and } \phi(z_{\gamma} \wedge k, k) > 1/2$$

implies that $w_{\gamma} \uparrow k$ in K. Therefore, $z_{\gamma} \land k \xrightarrow{fo} k$ in K. Hence, $z_{\gamma} \land k \in L$ and L is fo-closed then $k \in L$.

Chapter 6

Fuzzy normed Riesz space

In the current chapter, we study the fuzzy norm in view of fuzzy ordering and defined fuzzy normed Riesz space. Later on, we investigate the theory of locally convex-solid fuzzy Riesz space. Toward the end of this chapter, we define unbounded fuzzy norm convergence in fuzzy Banach lattices.

Definition 6.0.1. A fuzzy norm N on an FRS (K, ϕ) is called fuzzy Riesz norm if $\phi(|k|, |g|) > 1/2$ implies $N(k,t) \ge N(g,t)$ for each $k, g \in K$ and $0 < t \in \mathbb{R}$. If N is a fuzzy Riesz norm on K then (K, N, ϕ) is said to be fuzzy normed Riesz space (FNRS). A norm complete fuzzy normed Riesz space is said to be fuzzy Banach lattice.

The following result shows that a closed unit ball in a fuzzy Riesz norm is fuzzy solid.

Proposition 6.0.2. Let a fuzzy norm on an FRS (K, ϕ) is a fuzzy Riesz norm iff its closed unit ball with radius r

$$B_N = \{k \in K, \ N(k,t) \ge 1 - r \ \forall \ 0 < t \in \mathbb{R}\}$$

is a fuzzy solid subset.

Proof. If N is an FNRS then clearly B_N is a fuzzy solid subset.

Conversely, if B_N is a fuzzy solid and $\phi(|k|, |g|) > 1/2$ in K then

$$\phi(|\frac{1}{N(k,t)+\epsilon}k|,|\frac{1}{N(k,t)+\epsilon}g|)>1/2$$

for all $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$. As $\frac{1}{N(k,t)+\epsilon}g \in B_N$ implies $\frac{1}{N(k,t)+\epsilon}k \in B_N$. Therefore, $N(g,t) \leq N(k,t) + \epsilon$ for all ϵ . Hence $N(g,t) \leq N(k,t)$.

It is obvious in an FNRS (K, N, ϕ) , N(|k|, t) = N(k, t) for each $k \in K$ and $0 < t \in \mathbb{R}$. A few properties of FNRS are discussed in the underlying proposition.

Proposition 6.0.3. If (K, N, ϕ) is an FNRS then following statements are true:

- (i) K is an Archimedean FRS;
- (ii) the fuzzy lattice operations $(k,g) \mapsto k \wedge g$, $(k,g) \mapsto k \vee g$, $k \mapsto k^-$, $k \mapsto k^+$, and $k \mapsto |k|$ are fuzzy continuous from $K \times K$ (or from K, resp.) into K;
- (iii) the positive cone is fuzzy norm closed;
- (iv) the closure of a fuzzy ideal is a fuzzy ideal;
- (v) the closure of a fuzzy Riesz subspace is a fuzzy Riesz subspace;
- (vi) every fuzzy band is closed.
- Proof. (i) For $k, g \in K$ and $\phi(nk, g) > 1/2$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$, it follows that $\phi(nk^+, g^+) > 1/2$ and $N(g^+, t) \leq N(nk^+, t)$ for each $0 < t \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, $k^+ = 0$. Hence, $\phi(k, 0) > 1/2$.
 - (ii) Suppose $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_n} k$ in K. Then for each $0 < t \in \mathbb{R}$

$$N(|k_{\lambda}| - |k|, t) \ge N(|k_{\lambda} - k|, t) = N(k_{\lambda} - k, t) = 1.$$

So, $|k_{\lambda}| \xrightarrow{fn} |k|$. Hence the modulus operation is fuzzy continuous. Since the modulus can express all fuzzy lattice operations, so these lattice operations are fuzzy continuous as well.

- (iii) Let $K^+ = \{k, k^- = 0\}$ be the fuzzy positive cone. Therefore, it is the inverse image of fuzzy closed set $\{0\}$ with respect to fuzzy continuous map $k \mapsto k^-$.
- (iv) Suppose C is a fuzzy ideal of K. Then $\phi(|k|, |g|) > 1/2$ we have $g \in \overline{C}$. Take a sequence $(g_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq C$ with $g_n \xrightarrow{f_n} g$. Define $k_n^+ := k^+ \wedge |g_n|$ and $k_n^- := k^- \wedge |g_n|$ for each n, we have $k_n = k_n^+ k_n^- \in C$. Clearly, $\phi(k_n, g_n) > 1/2$ for each n. Since C is a fuzzy ideal, we have $k_n \xrightarrow{f_n} k$. By (ii), hence $k \in \overline{C}$.
- (v) It is the immediate consequences of (ii) and (iv).
- (vi) Let $k_n \uparrow k$ in K i.e. $k = \sup_n k_n$. Suppose C is a σ -fuzzy ideal in K and $(h_n) \subseteq C$ such that $h_n \xrightarrow{f_n} h$ in K. Let $g_n := |h_n| \land |h|$ we have $(g_n) \subseteq C$. By (ii) (g_n) fn-converges to |h|. Defining $k_n := \sup_n g_n$ in C and satisfying $\phi(g_n, k_n) > 1/2$ and $\phi(k_n, |h|) > 1/2$. Thus, we have for each $0 < t \in \mathbb{R}$

$$N(k_n - |h|, t) \ge N(g_n - |h|, t)$$

which shows that (k_n) fn-convergent to |h| in K. But $k_n \uparrow |h|$. Since C is a σ -fuzzy ideal, we have $|h| \in C$ implies that $h \in C$. Hence C is closed.

Lemma 6.0.4. Let (K, N, ϕ) be an FNRS. If a net $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ and $\lim_{\lambda} k_{\lambda} = k$ then $k = \sup_{\lambda} k_{\lambda}$.

Proof. For fixed γ , take $\gamma \leq \lambda$, we have $\phi(k_{\gamma}, k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$. Since K^+ is fuzzy closed, it follows that $\phi(k_{\gamma}, k) > 1/2$. Thus k is an upper bound of (k_{λ}) . If $g \in K$ is another upper bound, then $\phi(k_{\gamma}, g) > 1/2$ implies $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$. Hence $k = \sup_{\lambda} k_{\lambda}$.

An important result about continuity of fuzzy positive operators between fuzzy Banach lattice is given as follow.

Proposition 6.0.5. If P is a fuzzy positive operator between fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N_1, ϕ) to FNRS (H, N_2, μ) then it is fuzzy continuous. Proof. Let $P: K \to H$ is a fuzzy positive operator. Suppose on contrary that, P is not fuzzy continuous then it must be fuzzy unbounded. Therefore, there exists a sequence $(k_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in K such that $k_n \downarrow 0$ satisfying $N_1(k_n, t) = 1$ and $N_2(P(k_n), t) \leq M$ for each $0 < t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $M \in (0, 1)$. Since K is fuzzy norm complete then $g := \sum_n k_n$ exists in K. Clearly, $\phi(k_n, g) > 1/2$ for each n. Thus, $\mu(P(k_n), P(g)) > 1/2$ and so

$$N_2(P(g), t) \le N_2(P(k_n), t) \le M$$

for each n, a contradiction.

6.0.1 Fuzzy order continuous Banach lattice

A fuzzy Riesz norm on an FRS (K, ϕ) is known as *fuzzy order continuous* if $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$ implies $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_n} 0$ and σ -fuzzy order continuous if $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \downarrow 0$ implies $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \xrightarrow{f_n} 0$. Next lemma is conducive to characterized the fuzzy order continuous Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) .

Lemma 6.0.6. Let (K, ϕ) be an Archimedean FRS. If a net $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ in K, then the set $C = \{g \in K, \phi(k_{\lambda}, g) > 1/2 \text{ for each } \lambda\}$ is directed downward and $g - k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$.

Proof. Clearly, C is directed downward. Let $\phi(z, g - k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ holds for each λ and $g \in C$. Then $\phi(k_{\lambda}, g - z) > 1/2$ for all λ . Therefore, $g - z \in C$. By induction, $g - nz \in C$ for each n. In particular, $\phi(nz, k) > 1/2$ for each n. Since K is Archimedean FRS then z = 0. Hence $g - k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$.

A characterization of fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) with fuzzy order continuous norms are given in the following results.

Theorem 6.0.7. If (K, N, ϕ) is a fuzzy Banach lattice then underlying statements are equivalent:

(i) K has fuzzy order continuous norm;

(ii) if $k_n \uparrow k$ in K^+ then (k_n) is a fuzzy norm cauchy sequence;

(iii) K is a σ -fuzzy Dedekind complete and $k_n \downarrow 0$ in K implies $N(k_n, t) \downarrow 0$ for t > 0.

Proof. (i) \Rightarrow (ii) Let $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ in K^+ . Take $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and by continuity of \star , we can find $r \in (0, 1)$ such that $(1 - r) \star (1 - r) > 1 - \alpha$. By Lemma 6.0.6 there exists a net $(g_{\gamma}) \subseteq K$ with $g_{\gamma} - k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$. Therefore, there exist λ_0 and γ_0 such that $N(g_{\gamma} - k_{\lambda}, t) > 1 - \alpha$ for each $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$ and $\gamma \geq \gamma_0$. The inequality

$$N(k_{\beta} - k_{\lambda}, t + s) \ge N(k_{\beta} - g_{\lambda_0}, t) \star N(k_{\lambda} - g_{\lambda_0}, s)$$
$$> (1 - r) \star (1 - r) > 1 - \alpha$$

for each $\lambda, \beta \geq \lambda_0$ and t, s > 0. Hence (k_{λ}) is fuzzy norm cauchy net.

(ii) \Rightarrow (i) Suppose (k_n) is a decreasing sequence in K^+ . Let (k_n) be a fuzzy norm cauchy sequence. Take $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and by continuity of \star , we can discover $r \in (0,1)$ such that $(1-r) \star (1-r) \star (1-r) > 1-\alpha$. Let some $g_n \in K^+$ with $N(k_n - g_n, t) > 1 - r/2^n$ for t > 0. Put $u_n = \bigwedge_{i=1}^n g_i$ and note (u_n) is a decreasing sequence in K^+ . By our assumption, there exists some n_0 with $N(u_n - u_m, t) > 1 - r$ for each $n, m \ge n_0$. So,

$$k_n - u_n = \bigvee_{i=1}^n (k_n - g_i)$$

such that

$$\phi(\bigvee_{i=1}^{n}(k_{n}-g_{i}),\bigvee_{i=1}^{n}(k_{i}-g_{i})) > 1/2 \text{ and } \phi(\bigvee_{i=1}^{n}(k_{i}-g_{i}),\sum_{i=1}^{n}|k_{i}-g_{i}|) > 1/2.$$

Now

$$-(k_n - u_n) = \bigwedge_{i=1}^n (g_i - k_n)$$

such that

$$\phi(\bigwedge_{i=1}^{n}(g_i - k_n), g_n - k_n) > 1/2 \text{ and } \phi(g_n - k_n, \sum_{i=1}^{n}|k_i - g_i|) > 1/2.$$

We have $\phi(|k_n - u_n|, \sum_{i=1}^n |k_i - g_i|) > 1/2$. Thus,

$$N(k_n - u_n, t) \ge \sum_{i=1}^n N(k_i - g_i, s) > 1 - r/2^i > 1 - r \text{ for each } n.$$

In particular, for $m, n \ge n_0$ and t, s, p > 0 we have,

$$N(k_n - k_m, t + s + p) \ge N(k_n - u_n, t) \star N(u_m - u_n, s) \star N(u_m - k_m, p)$$

> (1 - r) \times (1 - r) \times (1 - r) > 1 - \alpha.

(ii) \Rightarrow (iii) is straight forward.

(iii) \Rightarrow (i) Let $k_{\lambda} \downarrow 0$. Suppose the net (k_{λ}) is not fuzzy norm cauchy, therefore, there exists some $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and an increasing sequence (λ_n) such that $N(k_{\lambda_n} - k_{\lambda_{n+1}}, t) < 1 - \alpha$ for each n. As K is σ -fuzzy Dedekind complete, there exists some $k \in K$ with $k_{\lambda_n} \downarrow k$. So, k_{λ_n} is fuzzy norm cauchy sequence. A contradiction, thus, $N(k_{\lambda}, t) \downarrow 0$.

6.1 Locally convex-solid fuzzy Riesz space

With the induced topology τ of fuzzy norms (K, τ) is a topological vector space. Furthermore, a topological vector space is said to be *locally convex* if it has a local base at zero consisting of convex sets. We aim to study the relationship between the fuzzy lattice structure of Kunder the fuzzy order ϕ and topological structure of K.

In order to construct a relation between topological dual denoted K' (set of all continuous linear functionals with respect to topology τ) and fuzzy order dual, we adopt a general approach by considering a locally convex topology τ on FRS (K, ϕ) generated by a family of complete fuzzy Riesz norms on K. We call the triple (K, ϕ, τ) locally convex-solid fuzzy Riesz space(LCSFRS). Every locally convex-solid topology on a fuzzy Riesz space makes fuzzy lattice operations continuous functions.

Proposition 6.1.1. If (K, ϕ, τ) is a LCSFRS then following statements are true:

- (i) $k \mapsto k^+$ from K to K is continuous;
- (ii) $k \mapsto k^-$ from K to K is continuous;
- (iii) $k \mapsto |k|$ from K to K is continuous;
- (iv) $(k,g) \mapsto k \lor g$ from $K \times K$ to K is continuous;
- (v) $(k,g) \mapsto k \wedge g$ from $K \times K$ to K is continuous.
- *Proof.* It is an immediate consequence of [10, Theorem 4.11].

The next result shows some essential characterization of LCSFRSs.

Proposition 6.1.2. If (K, ϕ, τ) is a LCSFRS then following statements are true:

- (i) the FRS K is a fuzzy Archimedean;
- (ii) the fuzzy positive cone K^+ is a τ closed;
- (iii) τ closure of fuzzy solid subset C of K is also a fuzzy solid;
- (iv) τ closure of fuzzy Riesz subspace of an FRS is a fuzzy Riesz subspace;
- (v) every fuzzy band is a τ closed;
- (vi) if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\tau} k$ in K then $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ in K;
- (vii) if two nets (k_{λ}) and (g_{λ}) satisfied $\phi(k_{\lambda}, g_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ and $k_{\lambda} g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\tau} 0$ then $k_{\lambda} \downarrow k$ iff $g_{\lambda} \downarrow k$.

- *Proof.* (i) Let $\phi(nk,g) > 1/2$ for each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $k, g \in K^+$. As $\phi(k, \frac{1}{n}g) > 1/2$ and $\frac{1}{n}g \xrightarrow{\tau} 0$ implies that k = 0.
 - (ii) By Proposition 6.1.1 $k \mapsto k^-$ is continuous. Therefore, $K^+ = \{k \in K : k^- = 0\}$. Hence K^+ is $\tau closed$.
- (iii) Let C be a fuzzy solid subset of K. Then $\phi(|k|, |g|) > 1/2$ we have $g \in \overline{C}$. Take a net $(g_{\lambda}) \subseteq C$ with $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\tau} g$. Define $k_{\lambda} := (k \wedge g_{\lambda}) \vee (|-g_{\lambda}|)$ for each λ . Clearly, $\phi(k_{\lambda}, g_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ for each λ . Therefore, $(k_{\lambda}) \subseteq C$ such that $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\tau} k$. Hence, $k \in \overline{C}$.
- (iv) Suppose L is a fuzzy Riesz subspace of K. Clearly, \overline{L} is a vector subspace of K. If $g \in \overline{G}$ therefore, there exists a net (g_{λ}) in L such that $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\tau} g$. By Proposition 6.1.1 $(g_{\lambda})^+ \subseteq L$ such that $g_{\lambda}^+ \xrightarrow{\tau} g^+$. Hence $g^+ \in \overline{L}$.
- (v) Take a $\emptyset \neq C \subseteq K$ with disjoint complement $C^d = \{k \in K, |k| \land |g| = 0, \forall g \in C\}$ is $\tau closed$. Indeed, if $k \in \overline{C^d}$ then $k_\lambda \xrightarrow{\tau} k$ for some $(k_\lambda) \subseteq C$. Thus, $0 = |g| \land |k_\lambda| \xrightarrow{\tau} |g| \land |k|$ for each $g \in C$. Since $|k| \land |g| = 0$ implies that $k \in C^d$. Hence, C^d is $\tau closed$. Since K fuzzy Archimedean then by [26, Theorem 5.8] every fuzzy band satisfies $C = C^{dd}$. Hence, C is $\tau - closed$.
- (vi) For fixed $\lambda, \gamma \succeq \lambda$ we have $\phi(k \lor k_{\lambda} k, k \lor k_{\gamma} k) > 1/2$ and $\phi(k_{\gamma} k, |k_{\gamma} k|) > 1/2$. Thus, $|k_{\gamma} - k| \xrightarrow{\tau} 0$. Therefore, $k \lor k_{\lambda} - k = 0$ i.e. $\phi(k_{\lambda}, k) > 1/2$ for each λ . Suppose there exists some $g \in K$ such that $\phi(k_{\lambda}, g) > 1/2$ for each λ . Thus, $g - k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\tau} g - k$ implies that $g - k \in K^+$ i.e. $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$. Hence, $k_{\lambda} \uparrow k$ in K.
- (vii) Suppose $k_{\lambda} \downarrow k$ and $\phi(k, g) > 1/2$, $\phi(g, g_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ for each λ . Then $\phi((g-k_{\lambda})^+, g_{\lambda}-k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ for each λ . Thus, $(g-k_{\lambda})^+ \stackrel{\tau}{\to} 0$. Therefore, $(g-k_{\lambda})^+ \uparrow (g-k)^+ = g-k$. By (vi) we have g-k=0 implies that $g_{\lambda} \downarrow k$.

Conversely, suppose that $g_{\lambda} \downarrow k$ in K. Then $\phi(k - k \land k_{\lambda}, g_{\lambda} - k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$, therefore, $k - k \land k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\tau} 0$. So $k - k \land k_{\lambda} \uparrow$ by (vi) $k - k \land k_{\lambda} \uparrow 0$ implies that $k - k \land k_{\lambda} = 0$ for each λ , thus $\phi(k, k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$. Hence, $k_{\lambda} \downarrow k$ in K.

Theorem 6.1.3. If (K, ϕ, τ) is an LCSFRS, then the topological dual K' (is fuzzy Dedekind complete in its own right) is a fuzzy ideal of the fuzzy order dual K^{\sim} . Moreover, if for each $u, v \in K'$ and $h \in K^+$ then

$$[u \lor v](h) = \sup\{u(k) + v(g) : k, g \in K^+ \text{ and } k + g = h\}$$

and

$$[u \wedge v](h) = \inf\{u(k) + v(g) : k, g \in K^+ \text{ and } k + g = h\}.$$

Proof. We show that K' is a vector subspace of K^{\sim} . Suppose on contrary that some $u \in K'$ and u does not exist in K^{\sim} there exist some $k \in K^+$ and a sequence $(k_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subseteq [0, k]$ satisfying $u(k_n) \geq n$ for each n. Now $\phi(\frac{1}{n}k_n, \frac{1}{n}k) > 1/2$ and $\frac{1}{n}k \xrightarrow{f\tau} 0$. Therefore, $\lim u(\frac{1}{n}k_n) = 0$, a contradiction.

Now we show that K' is a fuzzy ideal of K^{\sim} . Suppose $\psi(|u|, |v|) > 1/2$ in K^{\sim} with $v \in K'$. Let $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f\tau} 0$ and $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$. The Theorem 4.0.4 yields that there exists a net (g_{λ}) with $\phi(g_{\lambda}, k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ and $|v|(|k_{\lambda}|) \leq |v(g_{\lambda})| + \epsilon$ for each λ . Clearly, $g_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f\tau} 0$. Thus

$$\psi(|u(k_{\lambda})|, |u|(|k_{\lambda}|)) > 1/2 \text{ and } |u|(|k_{\lambda}|) \le |v|(|k_{\lambda}|).$$

So $|u(k_{\lambda})| \leq |v(g_{\lambda})| + \epsilon$ then $\limsup |u(k_{\lambda})| \leq \epsilon$ for each $\epsilon \in (0, 1)$. Therefore, $\limsup |u(k_{\lambda})| = 0$ and $\lim u(k_{\lambda}) = 0$. Hence $u \in K'$. The fuzzy lattice operations are acquired from Theorem 4.0.4.

6.2 Unbounded fuzzy norm convergence

This section aims to define and study unbounded fuzzy norm convergence in fuzzy Banach lattice, which is closely related to unbounded fuzzy order convergence. Some other theoret-

ical concepts like fuzzy quasi interior-point and disjoint sequences are studied in relation to unbounded fuzzy norm convergence. Moreover, we define a topology that is compatible with unbounded fuzzy norm convergence.

Definition 6.2.1. A net $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ in a fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) is known as unbounded fuzzy norm convergent (ufn-convergent for short) to $k \in K$ denoted $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} k$ if $|k_{\lambda} - k| \wedge g \xrightarrow{fn} 0$ for each $g \in K^+$ and read as k_{λ} ufn-convergent to k.

Note that fn-convergence implies ufn-convergence. The following result provides some basic properties of ufn-convergence.

Lemma 6.2.2. Let $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ and $(g_{\gamma})_{\gamma \in \Gamma}$ be nets in a fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) . Then following statements are true:

Proof. The proof of (1) and (11) are obvious.

- (iii) It follows from $\phi(||k_{\lambda}| |k||, |k_{\lambda} k|) > 1/2.$
- (iv) Let $\phi(|k-g|, |k-k_{\lambda}|+|g-k_{\lambda}|) > 1/2$ for each λ . Let h = |k-g|. Thus, $|k-g| = |k-g| \wedge h$. Therefore,

$$\phi(|k-g| \wedge h, |k-k_{\lambda}| \wedge h + |g-k_{\lambda}| \wedge h) > 1/2.$$

Hence, k = g.

(v) It follows from

$$\phi(|k_n \vee g_n - k \vee g|, |k \vee g_n - k \vee g| + |k_n \vee g_n - k \vee g_n|) > 1/2$$

and

$$\phi(|k \vee g_n - k \vee g| + |k_n \vee g_n - k \vee g_n|, |k_n - k| + |g_n - g|) > 1/2$$

Analogously, $k_n \wedge g_n \xrightarrow{ufn} k \wedge g$.

(vi) Assume that $k_n \xrightarrow{ufn} k$. Let (k_{n_p}) be subsequence of (k_n) . For each $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $z \in K^+$ there is an $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $N((k_n - k) \wedge z, t) > 1 - \alpha$ for t > 0 whenever $n \ge n_0$. Then $n_0 \le n_p \le p$ we have $N((k_{n_p} - k) \wedge z, t) > 1 - \alpha$. Hence $k_{n_p} \xrightarrow{ufn} k$.

Note that if a net is fuzzy order bounded in K then ufn-convergence implies fn-convergence.

Lemma 6.2.3. Let (k_{λ}) be a fuzzy order bounded net in fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) . Then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{fn} 0$ iff $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$.

Proof. Without loss, suppose the net (k_{λ}) in K^+ . Then for each $w \in K^+$, $\phi(k_{\lambda} \wedge w, k_{\lambda}) > 1/2$ and $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$. Conversely, suppose $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ there exists some $z \in K^+$ such that $\phi(k_{\lambda}, z) > 1/2$ for each λ . Thus $k_{\lambda} = k_{\lambda} \wedge z \xrightarrow{fn} 0$.

The following result shows that ufo-convergence implies ufn-convergence when fuzzy Banach lattice is fuzzy order continuous.

Lemma 6.2.4. If (K, N, ϕ) is a fuzzy order continuous Banach lattice then ufo-convergence implies ufn-convergence.

Proof. fo-convergence implies fn-convergence in fuzzy order continuous spaces. So if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ then we have $k_{\lambda} \wedge z \xrightarrow{fo} 0$ for each $z \in K^+$. Hence fuzzy order continuity gives $k_{\lambda} \wedge z \xrightarrow{fn} 0$. \Box To reduce the checking work of ufn-convergence to each positive vector to a single special vector is known as a fuzzy quasi-interior point as in [28, Proposition 5], which is discussed as follows.

Definition 6.2.5. A non-zero positive q in a fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) is known as fuzzy quasi-interior point if $k \wedge nq \xrightarrow{fn} k$ for each $k \in K^+$.

Theorem 6.2.6. Let (K, N, ϕ) be a fuzzy Banach lattice with fuzzy quasi-interior point q. Then $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ if and only if $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge q \xrightarrow{fn} 0$.

Proof. As $k_{\lambda} \wedge q \xrightarrow{f_n} k$ implies $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{uf_n} 0$. Conversely, let $z \in K^+$, t > 0. Take $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and by continuity of \star , we can find $r \in (0, 1)$ such that $(1 - r) \star (1 - r) > 1 - \alpha$. Then

$$\phi(|k_{\lambda}| \wedge z, |k_{\lambda}| \wedge (z - z \wedge nq) + |k_{\lambda}| \wedge (z \wedge nq)) > 1/2$$

and

$$\phi(|k_{\lambda}| \wedge (z - z \wedge nq) + (|k_{\lambda}| \wedge (z \wedge nq), (z - z \wedge nq) + n(|k_{\lambda}| \wedge q)) > 1/2.$$

Thus,

$$N(|k_{\lambda}| \wedge z, t+s) \ge N(z - z \wedge nq, t) \star N(n(|k_{\lambda}| \wedge q), s)$$

for each λ and $n \in \mathbb{N}$. As q is fuzzy quasi-interior point we may find n such that $N(z - z \wedge nq, t) > 1 - r$ for each n and t > 0. Moreover, it follows from $k_{\lambda} \wedge q \xrightarrow{fn} k$ there exists λ_0 such that $N(k_{\lambda} \wedge q, s) > (1 - r)/n$ whenever $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$ and s > 0. Therefore, $N(|k_{\lambda}| \wedge z, t) > (1 - r) \star n(1 - r)/n > 1 - \alpha$. Hence $|k_{\lambda}| \wedge z \xrightarrow{fn} 0$.

6.2.1 Disjoint Sequences

Two sequences (k_n) and (k_m) are called disjoint if $|k_n| \wedge |k_m| = 0$ for $m \neq n$ and read as $k_n \perp k_m$. Disjoint sequences in an FRS is ufo-convergent to zero. But this fact is not true for ufn-convergence. The ufn-convergent sequences are almost disjoint. The next result is useful to prove our key result.

Lemma 6.2.7. Let (K, ϕ) be an FRS. If |k| = g + h for some $k \in K$ and some $g, h \in K^+$ then there exist a and b such that k = a + b, |a| = g and |b| = h.

Proof. Suppose $k^+ + k^- = g + h$, Theorem 2.3.8 yields the four positive vector w, x, y and z such that g = w + x, h = y + z, $k^+ = w + y$ and $k^- = x + z$. Put a = w - x and b = y - z. Thus $a + b = k^+ - k^- = k$. Now as $\phi(w, k^+) > 1/2$ and $\phi(x, k^-) > 1/2$ that $w \perp x$. Hence |a| = |w - x| = |w + x| = w + x = g. Analogously, $y \perp z$. Hence |b| = h.

Theorem 6.2.8. If a net $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ in a fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) then there exists a disjoint sequence (δ_n) and an increasing sequence of indices (λ_n) such that $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{fn} 0$.

Proof. Suppose that $(k_{\lambda}) \subseteq K^+$. Take any λ_1 and construct $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_{n-1}$. Observe that $k_{\lambda} \wedge k_{\lambda_j} \xrightarrow{f_n} 0, 1 \leq j \leq n-1$. Take $\lambda_n > \lambda_{n-1}$ such that $N(k_{\lambda} \wedge k_{\lambda_j}, t) \geq 1 - \frac{1}{2^{n+j}}$ for each j and t > 0. Therefore, we get an increasing sequence of indices (λ_n) . Let $g_{nj} = k_{\lambda} \wedge k_{\lambda_j}$ such that $N(g_{nj}, t) \geq 1 - \frac{1}{2^{n+j}}, 1 \leq j \leq n-1$.

For each *n*, put $h_n = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} g_{jn} + \sum_{i=n}^{\infty} g_{ni}$. Clearly, h_n is convergent and $N(h_n, t_n) > 1 - \frac{1}{2^{n+j}}$ for $\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} t_n < \infty$. Put $\delta_n = (k_{\lambda_n} - h_n)^+$. Clearly, $\phi(k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n, h_n) > 1/2$ such that $N(k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n, t) > 1 - \frac{1}{2^{n+j}}$ for each *n* and t > 0. Thus, $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{f_n} 0$.

Now we show that (δ_n) is disjoint sequence. Let n < p.

$$\delta_n = \phi((k_{\lambda_n} - h_n)^+, (k_{\lambda_n} - h_{np})^+) > 1/2 \text{ and } (k_{\lambda_n} - h_{np})^+ = k_{\lambda_n} - k_{\lambda_n} \wedge k_{\lambda_p}$$

and

$$\delta_p = \phi((k_{\lambda_p} - h_p)^+, (k_{\lambda_n} - h_{np})^+) > 1/2 \text{ and } (k_{\lambda_p} - h_{np})^+ = k_{\lambda_p} - k_{\lambda_n} \wedge k_{\lambda_p}.$$

Clearly, $\delta_n \perp \delta_p = 0$.

For the general case, we first take $|k_{\lambda}|$ and increasing sequence of indices. Also we take a positive disjoint sequence (a_n) and $b_n \xrightarrow{f_n} 0$, we have $|k_{\lambda_n}| = a_n + b_n$. Lemma 6.2.7 yields that there exists two sequence (δ_n) and (g_n) in K with $|\delta_n| = a_n$, $|g_n| = b_n$ and $k_{\lambda_n} = \delta_n + g_n$. It follows that (δ_n) is disjoint and $g_n \xrightarrow{f_n} 0$. Hence $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{f_n} 0$.

Remark 6.2.9. Let $(k_{\lambda})_{\lambda \in \Lambda}$ be a net in fuzzy norm space, if $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{f_n} k$ then there exists an increasing sequence of indices (λ_n) such that $k_{\lambda_n} \xrightarrow{f_n} k$. One can reduce nets to sequences while studying the fuzzy norm convergence.

Proposition 6.2.10. If a sequence $k_n \xrightarrow{f_n} k$ in a fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) then there exists a subsequence (k_{n_p}) such that $k_{n_p} \xrightarrow{f_o} k$ in K.

Proof. Let $k_n \xrightarrow{fn} k$. Take a subsequence $(k_{n_p})(p = 1, 2, ...)$ of (k_n) such that $N(k_{n_p}, t) > 1 - p^{-3}$ for each p and t > 0. There exists an element $g \in K^+$ such that $\phi(p|k_{n_p} - k|, g) > 1/2$ implies $\phi(|k_{n_p} - k|, p^{-1}g) > 1/2$ for each p.

For fuzzy order continuous Banach lattice, ufn-convergence is sequential, so one can always use ufn-convergent sequences instead of nets.

Proposition 6.2.11. If a net $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ in a fuzzy order continuous Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) then there exists an increasing sequence of indices (λ_n) such that $k_{\lambda_n} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ and $k_{\lambda_n} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$.

Proof. Let (λ_n) be an increasing sequence of indices and (δ_n) disjoint sequence as in Theorem 6.2.8. Since $\delta_n \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$, by Lemma 6.2.4 $\delta_n \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$. It follows from $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{fn} 0$ implies $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$. Thus, $k_{\lambda_n} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$. Moreover, since $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{fn} 0$ implies $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{fo} 0$. Therefore, $k_{\lambda_n} - \delta_n \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. Hence $k_{\lambda_n} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$.

It is of interest to note that Lemma 6.2.4 is an extension of the forward direction of this result to general fuzzy Banach lattice. The following results show the characterization of ufn-convergence in terms of ufo-convergence in fuzzy order continuous Banach lattices.

Proposition 6.2.12. If a sequence $k_n \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ in a fuzzy Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) then there exists a subsequence (k_{n_p}) such that $k_{n_p} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$ in K.

Proof. Let B_e be the fuzzy band generated by $0 \neq e \in K^+$. As $k_n \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ i.e. $k_n \wedge e \xrightarrow{fn} 0$ in K and therefore, in B_e . By Proposition 6.2.10 there exists a subsequence (k_{n_p}) of (k_n) such

that $k_{n_p} \wedge e \xrightarrow{f_o} 0$ in B_e . Since e is a fuzzy weak order unit in B_e by [28, Proposition 3.4] $k_n \xrightarrow{uf_o} 0$ in K.

Proposition 6.2.13. Let (k_n) be a sequence in fuzzy order continuous Banach lattice (K, N, ϕ) . Then $k_n \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ if and only if each subsequence (k_{n_p}) has 1 further subsequence $(k_{n_{p_i}})$ such that $k_{n_{p_i}} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$.

Proof. The forward implication is same as Proposition 6.2.12. Conversely, suppose on contrary that $k_n \xrightarrow{ufp} 0$. Then there exists $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and $g \in K^+$ and a subsequence (k_{n_p}) of (k_n) such that $N(k_{n_p}, t) < 1 - \alpha$ for all p. By assumption there is a subsequence $(k_{n_{p_i}})$ of (k_{n_p}) such that $k_{n_{p_i}} \xrightarrow{ufo} 0$. By Lemma 6.2.4 $k_{n_{p_i}} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$, a contradiction.

6.2.2 ufn-convergence is topological

This section is dedicated to define topology that is compatible with ufn- convergence. We work through by defining a local base of zero. Given $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ and $0 \neq z \in K^+$.

$$C_{z,\alpha} = \{k \in K : N(|k| \land z, t) > 1 - \alpha \text{ for } t > 0\}.$$

Where $C_{z,\alpha}$ is a neighborhood of zero. The set of all neighborhood of zero is represented as

$$N_0 = \{ C_{z,\alpha} : \alpha \in (0,1), 0 \neq z \in K^+ \}.$$

The next result shows that N_0 is a base of neighborhoods of zero for topology.

Proposition 6.2.14. The family N_0 is a base of neighborhoods of zero for topological vector space.

Proof. Clearly, every set in N_0 contains zero.

Now, we show that intersection of any two sets in N_0 contains another set in N_0 . Let $C_{z_1,\alpha_1}, C_{z_2,\alpha_2} \in N_0$. Take $\alpha = \min\{\alpha_1, \alpha_2\}$ and $z = \max\{z_1, z_2\}$. We claim that there exists a

 $C_{z,\alpha}$ such that $C_{z,\alpha} \subseteq C_{z_1,\alpha_1} \cap C_{z_2,\alpha_2}$. Let $c \in C_{z,\alpha}$. Therefore, $N(|c| \wedge z, t) > 1 - \alpha$. It follows from $\phi(|c| \wedge z_1, |c| \wedge z) > 1/2$ i.e.

$$N(|c| \wedge z_1, t) \ge N(|c| \wedge z, t) > 1 - \alpha \ge 1 - \alpha_1 \text{ for } t > 0.$$

Thus $c \in C_{z_1,\alpha_1}$. Analogously, $c \in C_{z_2,\alpha_2}$.

Clearly, $C_{z,\alpha} + C_{z,\alpha} \subseteq C_{z,2\alpha}$. It is easy to see that for every $|\lambda| \leq 1$, we have $\lambda C_{z,\alpha} \subseteq C_{z,\alpha}$. Finally we have to show that for every $c \in C_{z,\alpha}$ there exists $C_{g,\beta} \in N_0$ such that

$$c + C_{g,\beta} \subseteq C_{z,\alpha}$$

for some $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $0 \neq z \in K^+$. We need to find $\beta \in (0,1)$ and $0 \neq g \in K^+$. Put g := z. It follows from $c \in C_{z,\alpha}$ that $N(|c| \wedge z, t) > 1 - \alpha$ for t > 0. Take $\beta := N(|c| \wedge z, s) + \alpha - 1$. It is enough to show that $c + d \in C_{z,\alpha}$. Indeed,

$$\phi(|c+d| \wedge z, |c| \wedge z + |d| \wedge z) > 1/2.$$

Thus,

$$N(|c+d| \wedge z, t+s) \ge N(|c| \wedge z, t) \wedge N(|d| \wedge z, s) \ge N(|c| \wedge z, t) - \beta \ge 1 - \alpha.$$

The next proposition shows that ufn-convergence is topological.

Proposition 6.2.15. ufn-convergence in a fuzzy Banach lattice is the same as the convergence in topology whose base neighbourhood of zero is given by N_0 .

Proof. If $k_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{ufn} 0$ then for every $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and $0 \neq z \in K^+$ there is some λ_0 such that $N(|k_{\lambda}| \wedge z, t) > 1 - \alpha$ whenever $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$. For every $C_{z,\alpha} \in N_0$ there is λ_0 such that $k_{\lambda} \in N_0$

 $C_{z,\alpha}$ whenever $\lambda \geq \lambda_0$. Therefore, the natural convergence in this topology is exactly ufnconvergence.

Concluding Remarks:

Now, in the end, we summarize the novel contributions and present some future research lines.

- The existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion of a incomplete fuzzy Riesz space is proved, whereas to achieve this goal other related concepts like fuzzy order convergence, fuzzy positive operators and their related results are also explored to enrich the theory of fuzzy Riesz spaces.
- Fuzzy lattice operations are defined on the space of all fuzzy order bounded linear operators between two fuzzy Riesz spaces to make it fuzzy Riesz space when the range is fuzzy Dedekind complete. As a special case separation property of fuzzy order dual spaces are discussed.
- Fuzzy order convergence is generalized as unbounded fuzzy order convergence. Many other concepts like fuzzy weak order unit and fuzzy component are studied and many related results are proved.
- Fuzzy norms with respect to fuzzy ordering, to develop fuzzy Riesz norm, which leads to the fuzzy Banach lattices are defined and studied. Moreover, we proved that the topological dual is a fuzzy ideal of its fuzzy order dual in locally convex-solid fuzzy Riesz spaces.
- Unbounded fuzzy norm convergence is defined and studied in fuzzy Banach lattices. Many other concepts like fuzzy quasi interior point and disjoint sequences are investigated. Moreover, a topology is defined in which convergence is same as ufn-convergence.

For future research lines, one can define and explore the notion of fuzzy Riesz orthomorphism, unbounded fuzzy norm topology, unbounded fuzzy order convergence in fuzzy order dual spaces and unbounded absolute fuzzy weak convergence in fuzzy Banach lattices. Fuzzy order convergence and fuzzy positive operators can be applied to other spaces like soft sets, intuitionistic fuzzy sets and Rough set.

Bibliography

- Y. Abramovich and G. Sirotkin, On order convergence of nets, Positivity 9(3) (2005) 287-292.
- [2] N. Ajmal and K. V. Thomas, Fuzzy lattices, Information sciences 79 (1994) 271-291.
- [3] C. D. Aliprintis and O. Burkinshaw, Positive operator, Spriger Dordricht 2006.
- [4] C. D. Aliprantis and O. Burkinshaw, Locally solid Riesz spaces with applications to economics, second ed., Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 105, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2003.
- [5] A. Amroune, A. Oumhani and B. Davvaz, Kinds of t-fuzzy Filters of Fuzzy Lattices, Fuzzy Information and Engineering 9(3) (2017) 325-343.
- [6] B. Amudhambigaia and V. Madhuria, A study on fuzzy irresoulte topological vector spaces, Journal of Advanced Studies in Topology 9(1) (2018) 54–60.
- T. Bag, S.K. Samanta, Fuzzy bounded linear operators, Fuzzy Sets and System 151 (2005) 513-547.
- [8] T. Bag, S.K. Samanta, Operator's fuzzy norm and some properties, Fuzzy Information and Engineering 7 (2015) 151-164.
- [9] I. Beg and M. Islam, Fuzzy ordered linear spaces, Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics 3 (1995) 659-670.

- [10] I. Beg and M. Islam, Fuzzy Riesz Spaces, Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics 2 (1994) 211-241.
- [11] I. Beg and M. Islam, Fuzzy Archimedean spaces, Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics 5 (1997) 413-423.
- [12] I. Beg, σ -complete fuzzy Riesz spaces, Results in Mathematics 31 (1997) 292-299.
- [13] I. Beg, Extension of a fuzzy positive linear operator, Journal of Fuzzy Mathematics 6 (1998) 849-855.
- [14] I. Beg, On fuzzy order relations, Journal of Nonlinear Sciences and Applications 5 (2012) 357-378.
- [15] U. Bodenhofer, Representations and constructions of similarity-based fuzzy orderings, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 137 (2003) 113-137.
- [16] C. L, Chang, Fuzzy topological spaces, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 24 (1968) 182-190.
- [17] S.C. Cheng, J.N. Mordeson, Fuzzy linear operator and fuzzy normed linear spaces Bulletin of the Calcutta Mathematical Society 86 (1994) 429–436.
- [18] I. Chon, Partial order relations and fuzzy lattices, Korean Journal Mathematics 17(4) (2009) 361-374.
- [19] B. Davvaz and O. Kazanci, A new kind of fuzzy sublattice (ideal, filter) of a lattice, International Journal of Fuzzy Systems 13(1) (2011) 55-63.
- [20] Y. Deng. M. O. Brien and V. G. Troitsky, Unbounded norm convergence in Banach lattices, Positivity 21 (2017) 963–974.
- [21] C. Felbin, Finite dimensional fuzzy normed linear space, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 48 (1992) 239–248.

- [22] N. Gao, V. G. Triostsky and F. Xanthos, UO-convergence and its Applications to Cesaro Mean in Banach Lattices, Israel Journal of Mathematics 220 (2017) 649-689.
- [23] A. George and P. Veeramani, On some results in fuzzy metric spaces, Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 64 (1994) 395-399.
- [24] V. Gregori, A. Lopez-Crevillen, S. Morillas and A. Sapena, On convergence in fuzzy metric spaces, Topology and its Applications 156 (2009) 3002–3006.
- [25] V. Gregori and J. Minana, Strong convergence in fuzzy metric spaces, Filomat 31(6) (2017) 1619–1625.
- [26] L. Hong, Fuzzy Riesz subspaces, fuzzy ideals, fuzzy bands and fuzzy band projections, Analele Universitatii de Vest din Timisoara: Seria Matematica–Informatica 1 (2015) 77-108.
- [27] L. Hong, On order bounded subsets of locally solid Riesz spaces, Queastiones Mathematicae 39(3) (2016) 381-389.
- [28] M. Iqbal, G. A. Malik, Y. Bashir and Z. Bashir, The unbounded fuzzy order convergence in fuzzy Riesz spaces, Symmetry 11 (2019) 971.
- [29] M. Iqbal and Z. Bashir, The existence of fuzzy Dedekind completion of Archimedean fuzzy Riesz space, Computational and Applied Mathematics 39 (2020) 116.
- [30] M. Iqbal and Z. Bashir, A study on fuzzy order bounded linear operators in fuzzy Riesz spaces, (Preprint). DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.28204.28802.
- [31] Z. Bashir and M. Iqbal, The unbounded fuzzy norm convergence in fuzzy Banach lattices, (preprint). DOI: 10.13140/RG.2.2.34915.17448.
- [32] S. A. H. Kadhim, On Fuzzy Statistical (O)-Convergence in Fuzzy Riesz, Al-Nahrain Journal of Science Spaces 23(3) (2020) 61-67.

- [33] A. Kadji, C. Lele and M. Tonga, Fuzzy prime and maximal filters of residuated lattices, Soft Computing 21(8) (2017) 1913-1922.
- [34] O. Kaleva and S. Seikkala, On fuzzy metric spaces, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 12 (1984) 215-229.
- [35] O. Kazancı and B. Davvaz, More on fuzzy lattices, Computer and Mathematics with Applications 64(9) (2012) 2917-2925.
- [36] A.K. Katsaras and D.B. Liu, Fuzzy vector spaces and fuzz topological vector spaces. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 58 (1977) 135-146.
- [37] A. K. Katsaras, Fuzzy topological vector spaces I, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 6 (1981) 85-95.
- [38] A. K. Katsaras, Fuzzy topological vector spaces II, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 12 (1984) 143-154.
- [39] J. Konecny and M. Krupka, Complete relations on fuzzy complete lattices, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 320(1) (2017) 64-80.
- [40] I. Kramosil and J. Michalek, Fuzzy metric and statistical metric spaces, Kybernetika 11 (1975) 336-344.
- [41] R. Lowen, Fuzzy topological spaces and fuzzy compactness, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications 56 (1976), 621-633.
- [42] R. Lowen, Connectedness in fuzzy topological spaces, Journal of Mathematics 11 (1981).
- [43] R. Lowen, Convergence in fuzzy topological spaces, General Topology and its Applications 10 (1979) 147-160.

- [44] W. A. J. Luxemburg and A. C. Zaanen, Riesz Spaces, I, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1971.
- [45] J. Michalek, Fuzzy Topologies, Kybernetika 11 (1975) 5 345-354.
- [46] I. Micić, Z. Jančić and S. Stanimirović, Computation of the greatest right and left invariant fuzzy quasi-orders and fuzzy equivalences, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 339(15) (2018) 99-118.
- [47] H. R. Moradi, Characterization of fuzzy complete normed spaces and fuzzy B-complete set, Sahand Communications in Mathematical Analysis (SCMA) 1(2) (2014) 65-75.
- [48] A. Panneerselvam and A. Jayadevi, Anti monotonic P-fuzzy G distributive lattices, International Journal of Applied and Advanced Scientific Research 3(1) (2018) 89-95.
- [49] C. Park, E. Movahednia, S. M. S. M. Mosadegh and M. Mursaleen, Riesz fuzzy normed spaces and stability of a lattice preserving functional equation, Journal of Computational Analysis and Applications 24(3) (2018) 569-579.
- [50] P. Rajalakshmi and S. Selvam, New pairwise fuzzy topology through fuzzy ideal, International Journal of Statistics and Applied Mathematics 3(4) (2018) 12-15.
- [51] G. Rano and T. Bag, Fuzzy normed linear spaces, International Journal of Mathematics and Scientific Computing 2(2) (2012) 16-19.
- [52] X. W. D. Ruan and E. E. Kerre, Mathematics of Fuzziness-Basic Issues, Springer, Berlin, 2009.
- [53] V. Seenivasan and K. Kamala, Fuzzy e-continuity and fuzzy e-open sets, Annals of Fuzzy Mathematics and Informatics 8(1) (2014) 141–148.
- [54] R. Saadati and S. M. Vaezpour, Some results on fuzzy Banach spaces, Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computing 17(1-2) (2005) 475 - 484.

- [55] A. Vadivela and B. Vijayalakshmib, Fuzzy \wedge_e sets and continuity in fuzzy topological spaces, Journal of Linear and Topological Algebra 6(2) (2017) 125-134.
- [56] P. Venugopalan, Fuzzy ordered sets, Fuzzy Sets and System 46 (1992) 221-226.
- [57] J. H. Walt, The order convergence structure, Indagationes Mathematicae 21 (2011) 138-155.
- [58] R. H. Warren, Neighborhood, bases and continuity in fuzzy topological spaces, Rocky Mountain Journal of Mathematics 8 (1978) 459-470.
- [59] W. Yang, Fuzzy weak regular, strong and preassociative filters in residuated lattices, Fuzzy Information and Engineering 6 (2014) 223-233.
- [60] B. Yuan and W. Wu, Fuzzy ideals on a distributive lattice, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 35 (1990) 231-240.
- [61] J. Xiao and X. Zhu, Fuzzy normed space of operators and its completeness, Fuzzy Sets and Systems 133 (2003) 389–399.
- [62] W. Xie, Q. Zhang and L. Fan, The Dedekind–MacNeille completions for fuzzy posets, Fuzzy sets and systems 160 (2009) 2292-2316.
- [63] L. A. Zadeh, Fuzzy sets, Information and Control 8 (1965) 338-353.
- [64] L. A. Zadeh, Similarity relations and fuzzy ordering, Information Sciences 8 (1971) 177-200.
- [65] A. C. Zaanen, Introduction to Operator Theory in Riesz Spaces. Springer New York 1997.
- [66] H. J. Zimmermann, Fuzzy Set Theory and its Applications, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, 1991.

2 B 28-12-20



A Study on Fuzzy Riesz Spaces by Mobashir Iqbal .

From DRSM (DRSM L)

- Processed on 24-Dec-2020 10:01 PKT
- ID: 1481024946
- Word Count: 21401

Similarity Index 18% Similarity by Source

Internet Sources: 10% Publications: 16% Student Papers: 2%

Turnitin) Foca Quaid-i-Azam University Islamabad

sources:

1

1% match (Internet from 03-May-2019)

https://www.docme.ru/doc/1342362/8414.charalambos-d.-aliprantis--owen-burkinshaw---positiv...2

1% match (Internet from 09-Jul-2020)

https://www.mysciencework.com/search/publications?facets%5Bkeywords%5D%5B0%5D=46S40& sort=publications.masterDate

3

< 1% match (publications)

"Infinite Dimensional Analysis", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2006 4

< 1% match (publications)

Jerzy Kąkol, Wiesław Kubiś, Manuel López-Pellicer. "Descriptive Topology in Selected Topics of Functional Analysis", Springer Science and Business Media LLC, 2011 5

< 1% match (publications)

"ECAI 2020", IOS Press, 2020

6

< 1% match (Internet from 19-Apr-2020)